Teachers' Stories: Insiders' Perspectives on Their Own Professional Development in Literacy Education

By Khalida Tanvir Syed

A Thesis
Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the
Requirement for the Degree of
Master of Education

Department of Curriculum Humanities and Social Sciences
University of Manitoba
Winnipeg, Manitoba

(c) Copyright by Khalida Tanvir Syed June 1999



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre référence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-45158-5



THE UNIVERSITY OF MANITOBA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES ***** COPYRIGHT PERMISSION PAGE

Teachers' Stories: Insiders' Perspectives on Their Own Professional Development in Literacy Education

BY

Khalida Tanvir Syed

A Thesis/Practicum submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of The University of Manitoba in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree

of

MASTER OF EDUCATION

KHALIDA TANVIR SYED©1999

Permission has been granted to the Library of The University of Manitoba to lend or sell copies of this thesis/practicum, to the National Library of Canada to microfilm this thesis and to lend or sell copies of the film, and to Dissertations Abstracts International to publish an abstract of this thesis/practicum.

The author reserves other publication rights, and neither this thesis/practicum nor extensive extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's written permission.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			Page		
Al	ABSTRACT				
A	ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS				
1.	Chapter	One: Introducing the Study	1		
	1.1	Introduction to "Professional" Development	1		
	1.2.	The Purpose of this Study	3		
	1.3.	Personal Background to this Study and Literature Review	4		
2.	Chapter '	Two: Reviewing the Professional Development Literature	iv cing the Study at to "Professional" Development e of this Study ckground to this Study and Literature Review ing the Professional Development Literature for Effective Professional Development for Effective Professional Development preciation of the Importance of Professional Development volvement in Their Own Professional Development ical Inquiry ltiple Perspectives flection ic Context ge Base in Reading Comments arch Methodology 26		
	2.1.	Defining Professional Development	11		
	2.2.	Conditions for Effective Professional Development	13		
	2.3.	Teachers' appreciation of the Importance of Professional Development	14		
	2.4.	Teachers' Involvement in Their Own Professional Development	15		
	2.5.	Active, Critical Inquiry	18		
	2.6.	Sharing Multiple Perspectives	19		
	2.7.	Ongoing Reflection	20		
	2.8.	A Democratic Context	21		
	2.9.	A Knowledge Base in Reading	23		
	3.0	Concluding Comments	24		
3.	. Chapter Three: Research Methodology		26		
	3.1.	Narrative Inquiry	26		
	3.2.	Participants	26		

	3.3.	The Interviews	27
	3.4.	Instruments and Tools	28
	3.5.	Data Collection and Interpretation	28
	3.6	Role of the Researcher	29
, 4 .	Chapter F	Four: Insiders' Stories	31
	4.1.	Meet the Cast of Characters	31
	4.2.	Canadian Teachers' Perspective	31
	4.3.	Anna's Story	31
	4.4.	Jay's Story	40
	4.5.	Asian Teachers' Perspectives	46
	4.6	Hao-Ying's Story	46
	4.7	Sujung's Story	51
	4.8	Concluding Remarks	57
5.	Chapter F	Five: Bringing the Research Literature and the Teachers' Stories Together	58
	5.1.	Teachers' Appreciation of the Importance of Professional Development	60
	5.2.	Teachers' Involvement in Determining Their own Professional Development Needs and Opportunities	62
	5.3.	Active, Critical Inquiry as a Central Component of the Professional Development Experience	64
	5.4.	The Sharing of Multiple Perspectives Through Professional Development Experience	66
	5.5.	Ongoing Reflection as a Major Component of Professional Development	68
	5.6.	A Democratic Context for Professional Development	69

5.7.	A Solid Knowledge Base in Reading		71
5.8.	Further Study		74
6.	Bibliography		76
7.	Appendices		82
	7.1.	Appendix A Letter of Invitation	83
	7.2.	Consent to Participate	85
	7.3.	Appendix B Sample Interview Questions	86
	7.4	Appendix C Letter to accompany transcript and data analysis	87

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this study was twofold: to critically review the professional development literature with respect to literacy education; and, to then hold this review of the literature up against the experiential perspectives of "insiders"—four primary teachers currently engaged in professional development studies in literacy education.

This study grew out of my own professional development needs as a primary teacher in Pakistan. In the study I have explored what it means to be a "professional teacher". I have identified seven conditions necessary for the growth and renewal of teachers, who wish to effectively respond to the complex and rapidly changing needs of today's students.

I interviewed four teachers (two from Canada, one from China, and one from South Korea), who were also M.Ed. students in literacy education, regarding their experiences and "insider" reflections on professional development. I represented each of these stories using the methodology of narrative inquiry.

In spite of the differences in their backgrounds, each of these teachers expressed similar understandings, beliefs, concerns, and hopes with respect to their own professional development in literacy education. There was strong theoretical and moral identification with the conditions I had identified in the research literature. All four of the teachers, however, had little experience with these conditions in practice. Given the contradiction between what is advocated in the literature and what was actually experienced by the teachers, I was left with a series of unanswered questions that I offer to other teachers/researchers for further study.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to acknowledge my program advisor, Dr. Joan Walters, for her administrative skills in adjusting my M. Ed. course work (27 credits) so that I could complete the program in eight months.

I gratefully acknowledge my thesis advisor, Dr. Wayne Serebrin, for his sound advice, for his valuable time, insight into the research process and editing of this thesis.

I thank the other members of my thesis committee: Dr. Sheldon Rosenstock, for his encouragement and his thought-provoking questions and Dr. Fred Drewe for his helpful suggestions.

I am thankful to the four, international, primary teachers who willingly participated in my research and gave me the privilege of interviewing them.

I am thankful to my Canadian friends Audry, Carol, Charlott, Cherryl, Christ, Christine, Philis, Marry, Lee Ellen, Mark, Nancy, Simone, Jay, Jannet, Joy, and Judy for always caring for me.

I am most grateful to my medical doctor Dr. Mujibur Rehman for his constant care, encouragement and support. I also wish to thank Ms Shahina Siddique (Manitoba Islamic Association) for her encouragement.

My dear brother Ahsan-ul-Haq Syed, I thank you for your support and always caring for me. I am also thankful to my sister Sajida Bokhari and her husband Mr. Javed Bokhari for sponsoring me in Canada so that I could continue my educational journey.

I dedicate this thesis to my late father, Tanvir-ul-Haq Syed, who valued education for his children

Chapter One: Introducing the Study

Introduction to "Professional" Development

Ongoing, worldwide, professional development in the field of literacy education is essential if teachers are to effectively respond to the complex and rapidly changing demands of today's society. I am using the term "professional" development because I understand teaching to be a professional enterprise. Professional teachers draw upon specialized knowledge to perform their duties. In the performance of their duties professional teachers hold themselves accountable to the highest possible standard—addressing their students' and their own evolving learning needs. To address these learning needs, teachers must themselves be committed to inquiry: an ongoing, lifelong learning journey. This journey may take an inquiring teacher along untrammeled and unpredictable paths.

Ron Brandt (1993) describes the present-day drive for professionalism as originating in the mid-1980s, when policy makers identified the teacher as the critical factor in students' learning: "the quality of students depends on the quality of instruction, and the quality of instruction depends on their teachers" (p. 234). According to Malcolm Knowles (1980), education must be "a lifelong process of continuing inquiry.... The most important skill of all for both children and adults is learning how to learn; the skills of self-directed inquiry" (p. 41). Not only must professional teachers be lifelong inquirers if they are to meet their own and their students' learning needs, but they must also be seen to be exemplars of active inquiry by their students.

At the outset of this study, I am defining professional literacy teachers as teachers who participate in self-directed literacy learning and teaching inquiries leading to improvements in their practice. While I am arguing that teachers must establish their own professional inquiry agendas, I am not advocating that teachers (or any other learners) learn best when they learn alone. Rather, based on my own understanding of learning as a social enterprise and my reading of the literature on professional development, I would anticipate that where schools foster a democratic, professional culture, teachers have the potential to grow beyond the expectations they might have set for themselves as individuals. In *Changing Schools from Within*, Roland Barth (1990) stresses that "the professional growth of teachers is closely related to relationships within schools, between teacher and principal, between teacher and teacher" (p. 51).

I also want to acknowledge at the beginning of this study that I appreciate that teaching and learning—especially in the current, global context—are complex processes.

Darling-Hammond (1993) notes:

There is a little room in today's society for those who can not manage complexity, find and use resources, and continuously learn new technologies, approaches, and occupations. In contrast to low skilled work on assembly lines, which was designed from above and implemented by means of routine procedures from below, tomorrow's work sites will require employees to frame problems, design their own tasks, plan, construct, evaluate outcomes, and cooperate in finding novel solutions to problems. Increasing social complexity also demands citizens who can understand and evaluate multidimensional problems and alternatives and who can manage even more demanding social systems. (pp. 753-761)

Darling-Hammond's description points to the ever-changing, complex, and multi-layered world in which present-day teachers and their students are situated. In such a context it would seem unfathomable that professional development could take the form of "pre-

packaged" products or training sessions to be dispensed to teachers who were passive recipients.

The Purpose of this Study

My first purpose in this study is to critically analyze the professional development literature with specific attention to literacy teaching and learning. Having done this, I intend to juxtapose my literature analysis with the experiential stories of four international teachers, who are presently engaged in formal professional development studies (an M. Ed. program) in literacy education. My hope is that this research process will lead me to provisional answers to questions about how to encourage and support professional development in literacy education, while at the same time generating new questions about the problems and promise of such professional development.

For the purpose of this study, I have narrowed the focus of my research to professional development in reading education in the early years of schooling. I appreciate that the interrelationships among reading and writing and drawing and spoken language in children's literacy development (Harste, Burke, and Woodward, 1984; Tierney and Pearson, 1984; Shannon, 1984) may make it difficult to separate reading from other aspects of literacy. However, given my focus on professional development, I felt it necessary to limit the scope of my discussion of the content of this professional development.

In this study, I am specifically interested in teachers' perceptions of their own professional development needs with respect to both societal expectations and their own

assessments of students' present and future literacy needs. I am also interested in learning about what enhances or interferes with teachers' professional inquiries in literacy education.

Because I am a citizen of Pakistan, I am also interested in teachers' professional development experiences in reading education beyond strictly a Canadian context. I wish to learn about and compare the professional development of two teachers from Manitoba with two teachers from different Asian elementary school settings. Where it is appropriate I will also include my own teacher story.

Personal Background to this Study and Literature Review

"Allah increase my knowledge" (Quran)
"It is what we think we know that prevents us from learning."

(Claude Bernard)

I would like to begin my exploration of professional development by first turning inward, to my own experiences as an early years teacher and teacher educator in Pakistan:

I taught Language Arts in Kindergarten (3 sections) in a private school at Multan, Pakistan for two years. There were 30-35 students in each of my classes. I was feeling very good about the progress the students were making in my Kindergarten: "children's garden" (Froebel, 1974). The children were joyful and energetic, but unaware of the hard realities of life. I felt like a gardener-teacher taking care of these students, nurturing their growth and helping them in their experience of literacy—that is, reading, writing,

listening, speaking, drama, and art, etc. As I saw these children enjoying their learning experiences, my enthusiasm as a teacher grew.

Sadly, I suddenly had to leave my school. My father passed away, and my family members asked me to return to my home city, Bahawalpur, to take over my father's business. I was hesitant to do this because I preferred to be a teacher than a businesswoman. But ten days after my fathers' funeral, I went back to Multan to resign from my duties.

I still remember my last day at the school-"a farewell" during the school assembly time, where students, staff, and the principal prayed together. All of the children were standing in line waiting, with tearful eyes, for their turn to say goodbye. It was so hard for me to say goodbye—"Allah Hafiz." I loved them, they loved me, and they were asking "why do you have to leave?" I told them "I do not want to..."

After a year of handling my family business, I took another teaching position.

This time, as a teacher educator in the public sector, I taught in the B. A., B. SC., and B. Ed. programs at the Government College for Women, affiliated with Islamia University Bahawalpur, Pakistan. The first 3-4 years of my teaching were fun and exciting. Later, I felt bored and frustrated because the curriculum and standard exams for my students (not unlike those for early years' children) were the same, year after year.

As a teacher educator, working with inflexible curriculum and assessments, I felt cut-off from professional decision-making. I was looking for something new in my teaching, I did not want to be involved in a routine exercise all of the time. I felt as if I were just part of a big machine and I realized that my enthusiasm and self-esteem were waning. There was an obvious conflict between what I knew about students' learning in

theory and the standardized test-taking practices I was required to participate in. I felt torn between my need to build upon my students' interests and learning needs and the prescribed, national curriculum guide and standardized exams. As a teacher, I was interested in learning more about both the literacy understandings and the literacy teaching understandings of my own students. I knew that some of my teaching colleagues shared this interest.

I believe that teaching is a process that involves not only practical application of theory, but, as well, problematizing theory and theorizing based on reflections on practice. In his article, "Knowing, Doing, and Talking: The Oxford Years," Jerome S. Bruner (1990) has three themes that undergird my own theoretical orientation as a teacher. His first theme is constructivism-knowing is doing. For Bruner, learners are constantly exploring and reshaping. They can go beyond the given information. For him, knowledge is never ready-made, either by the mind or the world. Knowledge is created. Human beings create their own worlds. His second theme is functionalism-knowing is not only doing, it is doing something. Like the great American pragmatists Dewey and Mead, Bruner emphasizes that learners learn because their learning allows them to operate in and on the world. Bruner is interested in not only knowing how children learn words (and other aspect of language), but also in how children learn to do things with words. He explores the ways in which children treat language as a problem to be solved, and the ways in which they make language their own, instead of just acquiring it. Bruner's third theme is the social context of knowledge construction-knowing is doing something with someone else. Bruner asserts that "... knowing is not just culture, a construct like table manners... but knowledge requires a community, as well as a mind

and a world" (pp. 327-342). He argues that while the world "we live in is invented and constructed as symbolic construction, the constructive activities are themselves actually universal properties of mind" (pp. 66-68). He suggests that "thinking, believing, and remembering" are not only names that refer to simple processes for which we need a theory, they are part of the theory and scheme we have constructed to represent human action and interaction. Like Bruner, Boyd H. Bode (1937) also emphasizes the fact that "learning and doing are knit together in an organic relationship" (p.78). Bode considers literacy education as a form of present living and not merely a preparation for future living.

While my college students' experiences with literacy learning—reading, writing, listening, speaking and critical thinking—were already well-established before they entered the college, I felt that they had not learned, when they were children in school, how reading and writing might function as intellectual, social, and artistic tools for enhancing their own self-directed learning. In my own college classes my students were so preoccupied with doing what they had to do to fulfill external curriculum expectations and passing final examinations that these other, arguably more important literacy potentials, were lost.

One day, my principal called me into her office. She informed me that there was an opportunity for me to study abroad because there were several scholarships available for teachers who wished to earn Ph.D.'s in British or American literature. She always treated me like a younger sister or friend, although this information was offered as sincere professional advice. I replied to her that I was not interested because after getting a Ph.D. I would have to work as an administrator, and that I preferred to continue my work as a

teacher. She asked me: "What about your career?" I told her that I wanted to enhance my knowledge of literacy learning in order to fulfill my students' needs, so that as future teachers they might in turn fulfill the literacy needs of young children. I informed her that I felt that at least half of our students were not interested in 1400-1800 Century English literature. It was not relevant to their own culture, experience, and needs. For most of my students, English was their third or fourth language. Against their wishes, they were required to study English classics because this was compulsory for their degrees. I explained that I felt our curriculum needed to be expanded to include current literature as well as this limited British canon. As a teacher, I wanted to devise new ways of exciting my students about their own reading and writing and to explore a wider choice of literature, including the work of Pakistani writers writing in English.

During these years of college teaching, I felt myself losing touch with the current professional literature on literacy teaching. There was such a large workload and no time to keep up with professional reading. Neither were there opportunities to reflect on my own classroom literacy teaching experiences or to share them with my colleagues. These were obstacles to my professional growth. Teacher educators Frank Smith (1981) and Judith Newman (1991) both agree that to be effective teachers—at whatever level of teaching—we need to continually reflect upon our teaching.

I longed for the opportunity to collaboratively reflect on questions and concerns I shared with others. Like Vygotsky (Wertsch, 1991), I believe that learning and understanding are inherently social. I understand my knowledge to develop as my thinking is externalized through dialogue and interaction with others. I agree with Judith Newman (1991), that professional teachers are best served when they solve problems in

collaboration with others. As a teacher, I have always worked from the premise that cognition is not "powered by some reservoir of general ability" (Rogoff, p. 203) but, rather, it is acquired as a result of a collaborative process.

Further, as a Muslim, I understand life as a continuous struggle; and, similarly, that education—learning and teaching—is Jehad (or struggle). I willingly chose to undertake further study in this Jehad to increase my knowledge. Islam teaches me to seek knowledge, to think critically, to observe and to explore the world in order to make my journey more meaningful.

Finally, I also chose to leave my teaching responsibilities and to study abroad because I believe that in Pakistan, we are following an externally devised professional development agenda. I feel that this externally devised agenda, established by European and Western authorities (World Bank, IMF, etc.), are inappropriate for Pakistani teachers and their students. As mentioned earlier, I believe that instead of teaching English courses with only British literature—Shakespeare, Milton, Chaucer, Wordsworth, and others—native Pakistani writers, writing in English, and writers from other parts of the world, have ideas of importance to the lives of the students I teach.

Laureen Fredman and Dana.L. Fox (1996) argue for an integrated Language Arts curriculum which "brings history and politics into the foreground" (p. 13), opening up ideas to discussion and debate. In reforming literacy education in this way, Graff (1992) believes "we will contribute much more to the development of a democratic society" (p. 38).

I understand literacy as so much more than learning how to read and write.

Literacy is also about developing critical and moral understandings. Being literate is

about being aware of the differences between what is false and what is true, what is fair and what is unfair, what is democratic and what is dictatorial, and what is a right and what is a responsibility as a social being. Literacy learning involves learning how to contribute meaningfully to one's family, local community, or larger societal context.

Such a view of literacy also applies to professional teachers, who, I believe, must be given the opportunity to read and write their own inquiry agendas. For me, to learn as a professional is to enter into dialogue and debate with myself and with others and to think collaboratively about what I am doing and who I would like to become.

As a teacher in Pakistan, I was blessed with the support of parents and the larger society as well as the respect and trust of students. In our schools we face different problems from those of Canadian teachers. For example, it is possible in Pakistan to have one hundred or more students in one class with one teacher and no teacher assistants.

Poverty is a major problem. There may simply be no classroom, no blackboard and no books available to either the teachers or the students. While students are hard working, there may be few learning resources and little or no opportunity to benefit from the teacher's individual attention, feedback, and encouragement.

Although the education system in Canada differs greatly from that of my home country, Pakistan, I believe there is sufficient common ground in the experiences of teachers (i.e. government curriculum documents, standards exams, brief inservice sessions, etc.) upon which to base my research.

Chapter Two: Reviewing the Professional Development Literature

Defining Professional Development

I will begin this chapter by elaborating on the definition of "professional development" stated in Chapter One. The *Merriam Webster* dictionary (1986) defines a "professional" as an individual engaged in a learned profession or an occupation requiring a high level of learning and proficiency. The term "development" refers to the process of attempting to achieve or attain intellectual growth through a deliberate program of study. Based on these two definitions, I understand professional development in teacher education to be a continuing process of learning and professional inquiry, leading to an improvement in the quality and proficiency of a teacher's work. A teacher involved in professional development is someone who is routinely involved in intentional professional studies with the intent of developing better ways of supporting and extending students' learning. Professional development would seem to me to be essential; especially, if teachers are to keep abreast of advances and demands in today's rapidly changing educational context.

Before examining the value of professional development, I think it is important to first examine the idea of teaching as a "profession". Historically, teaching has been viewed as an occupation in which teachers were considered transmitters of information that had been generated by others (textbook publishers, provincial/state departments of Education, etc.). In the last half of this century, however, the status and role of the

teacher began to shift. More recently, in many countries, "normal schools" (colleges designed to "train" elementary teachers in practical teaching methods) have given way to university faculties or schools of Education (whose purpose has been to bring together the study of educational theory, research, and practice). In the last few years some faculties of Education have begun to establish an undergraduate degree as a basic entrance requirement. Collectively, these, and other related changes, represent an interest in strengthening the academic background of teachers. The assumption is that with a stronger intellectual grounding, teachers are positioned less as technicians—passing on others' information, and more as professionals—individuals having specialised knowledge of subject disciplines, educational theory, learners, and curriculum and instruction methodologies.

In the research literature, there has been much discussion of teaching as a "profession". Marshall (1980) argues that teaching is very much a profession, given his definition of professions as: prestigious occupations... [that] carry out an essential social service, are founded on systematic knowledge, require lengthy academic and practical training, and generate inservice growth" (p. 12). Labaree (1992) points to the formal knowledge and workplace autonomy exercised by teachers as evidence of two essential elements of professional status. Lainer and Little (1986) agree with Doyle (1986) and Goodlad (1990) that teaching qualifies as a profession by virtue of its identified knowledge base, its emphasis on developing technical skills in teachers, and its commitment to altruism (p. 24). Merton (1982) makes a similar argument. He identifies three human values that he believes are central to a profession: knowing, doing, and helping. Merton explains that knowing involves the personal construction of a systematic

body of theoretically and empirically derived knowledge, which is not easily obtained by the average individual. He suggests that doing refers to the use of this specialised knowledge to solve real problems experienced by people. The third value, helping (or, more specifically, caring), Merton claims, is what compels professionals to place the needs of others above their own.

Consistently, in the research literature, the argument is repeatedly made that theoretical and research knowledge must be integrated with practice. Researchers such a Darling-Hammond, 1993; Kramer, 1991; Lainer and Little, 1986; and Sikula, 1990 all point to the need for ongoing professional development (including professional development inservice days, professional reading, university course work, professional conference participation, etc.) as a means of bringing knowledge and practice together.

Conditions for Effective Professional Development

From my reading of the research literature, I have been able to identify the following six conditions as necessary for effective professional development: (1) teachers' appreciation of the importance of professional development; (2) teachers involvement in determining their own professional development needs and opportunities; (3) active, critical inquiry as a central component of the professional development experience; (4) the sharing of multiple perspectives through professional development experiences; (5) ongoing reflection as a major component of professional development; (6) and a democratic context for professional development. In the case of teachers of

early literacy, I would add a seventh condition: that, teachers also require a comprehensive knowledge base in reading.

<u>Teachers' Appreciation of the Importance of Professional Development</u>

Effective teaching does not just happen. It takes practice and preparation and it involves teachers in a constant exploration of new ideas and innovative techniques. Without adequate content and pedagogical knowledge, it would be impossible for teachers to deal with continual and changing student needs and the constant flow of new curricula. Sparks and Hirsh (1997) maintain that it is important for teachers to posses both a deep understanding of academic disciplines and specific, pedagogical knowledge related to this disciplinary knowledge. Sparks and Hirsh explain that what is critical to professional development is the *teacher's desire* to develop disciplinary expertise and to enhance his or her pedagogical skill.

Rebore (1994), suggests that like other professionals, teachers generally appreciate the need to be open to the advances being made in content knowledge and teaching methods. He suggests, however, that the extremely hectic schedules of most teachers make ongoing, individually directed professional development a challenge. Seldom, Rebore writes, is the teacher's need for in-depth study satisfied through short-term inservice sessions.

In connection with this idea, Hargreaves and Fullan (1992) point out that the teacher's interest in professional development is not limited to his or her acquiring external knowledge but also "self-understanding". Not only are teachers interested in

their professional and intellectual development, but they are also interested in gaining greater insight into their own learning as learners and people. Teachers' interest in professional development is complex. Continually re-experiencing what it means to be learners themselves has the potential to open teachers to problems faced by learners in their classrooms on a daily basis (Hargreaves and Fullan, 1992).

Teachers' Involvement in Their Own Professional Development

As I have stated, the research literature offers ample evidence that a teacher's willing involvement in teaching, learning, and inquiry is essential for effective professional development. According to Bowers (1974), teachers are responsible for defining rather then being passive consumers of ready made explanations of what, why and how to teach. After all, as Linda Crafton (1997) notes: "only 5% of traditional professional development ever results in classroom implementation" (p. 4).

Ken Goodman (1986), explains that when professional teachers see themselves as learners, they willingly involve themselves in their own ongoing professional renewal and accept responsibility for "staying informed, developing a sound base knowledge for classroom planning, practice and decision-making" (p. 67). Joan Irvine (1993), a former professor of Education at the University of Manitoba, writes that when teachers' knowledge is valued and they feel supported in their efforts to explore their knowledge, the likelihood increases that they will take responsibility for self- and collaboratively initiated professional studies. When such valuing is in place, she suggests:

...teachers can become life-long learners who are self directing both in terms of their practice and their own self-renewal. They see themselves as decision-makers and problem solvers. At the same time, they value being a member of a professional group, which inquires into the same kind of problems. (p. 15)

Unfortunately, seldom is such valuing in place. Much more often, professional development days are designed exclusively by school and school division authorities (sometimes including chairs of professional development committees, who may lack intimate knowledge of teachers' learning agendas).

Neilson (1991) criticises the perpetuation of this situation, noting that "professional development is still largely considered to be a packaging enterprise, more like a commodity than a way of being, a process of acquiring rather than inquiring" (p. 241). Neilson suggests, instead, that in the educational community, we need a place where teachers' stories can be heard, valued, and shared by other community members: "To do this with others demands that there be a place for teachers to share their stories, which has not been available in the current education system" (p. 240). He argues that telling such stories enables teachers to consciously rethink and review their roles as teachers. Neilson advocates that teachers play an active role in their own professional development by constantly evaluating their teaching practices, by asking who they are, as well as, what they are doing, on a daily basis, alone and together with students and with colleagues and friends

Linda Darling-Hammond (1997), a professor in Education Foundations at

Teachers College, Columbia University, and co-director of the National Centre of

Restructuring Education, Schools and Teaching, observes that the U.S. education system

fails to focus on teaching quality and teachers involvement in their professional growth.

Her analysis is that

for most of this century, it was thought that learning could be improved by ever more precise specification of teaching procedures: a more tightly prescribed curriculum, more teacher proof texts, and more extensive testing and more carefully constrained decision-making. (p. 20)

Darling-Hammond claims that tightly prescribing teaching methods serve to shut down teachers' inquiries into their own professional development. In "Reframing the School Agenda," Darling-Hammond (1993) describes quite a different mission for professional development, she suggests that professional development should not merely be about the delivery of instruction, but rather that it should support teachers in helping students to learn at the highest possible levels. It is no longer enough to cover curriculum, teaching must also enable remarkably diverse learners to "construct their own knowledge and develop their talents in effective and powerful ways" (Darling-Hammond, 1993, p. 75). Joan Irvine supports this idea, suggesting that professional "teachers need to take responsibility for collecting and sharing a different kind of evidence of learning in their classrooms" (p. 11). She argues that teachers' professional development must be viewed as research with teachers, rather than handing university research to them to be implemented. Jaggar (1989) agrees:

Neither teachers nor those they teach change simply by giving them information [recipes], by being told about theory and research or new approaches. Unfortunately, we often equate knowledge with information ...instruction won't improve in our schools if we hold onto the idea that all teachers need is more information and everything will get better. Information is necessary, but it is not a sufficient condition for change. (p. 146)

If teachers willingly participate directly in their own professional learning process, believing that they will benefit from their efforts, chances are that they will assume responsibility for their continued learning. If teachers, on the other hand, are excluded from self and/or peer-initiated inquiry by being rendered passive recipients of pre-packaged solutions, there is far less likelihood that they will implement what they

have learned. Teachers must approach professional development with enthusiasm seeing it as a means of inspiring their teaching and therefore a way of enhancing their effectiveness as professional. McNiff (1988) concludes that through their own involvement in professional learning, teachers learn "to become adventurous and critical in their thinking, to develop theories and rationalise their practice, and to give reasoned justification for their public claims to professional knowledge" (p. 234).

Active, Critical Inquiry

Not only is there support in the research literature for the idea that teachers need to be involved in determining their own professional development needs and opportunities, but there is also support for the idea that such determinations ought to be guided by an inquiring stance. Teachers grow as professionals when they ask self-directed questions and seek solutions to real educational problems that they have posed. "Teacher inquiry," writes Linda Crafton (1997), "is about teachers generating their own knowledge about teaching" (p. 4). Kathy Short and Carolyn Burke (1991) agree. They argue that without inquiry, a sense of purpose and meaning in learning is lost and our natural inquisitiveness as learners is deadened. Instead of studying topics to gain bits and pieces of information, we ask our own questions and engage in inquiry. We learn to search for problems as well as explanations for our problems. We are both problem posers and problem solvers (p. 55).

Crafton (1997) defines such inquiry, undertaken by teachers, as "teacher research"— teachers self-critically and "systematically studying their own practice over time" (p. 5). She writes that the teacher's role as a principal investigator in research is

not a usual one. Much more typically, she explains, teachers have been expected to implement the research findings of other (mostly university-based) educators, without questioning whether or not the findings of this research work for them or for their students.

Sharing Multiple Perspectives

Sharing what they have learned through their own inquiry/teacher research plays a central role in teachers' professional growth. Critical to such inquiry is discussion. Discussion guides interpretations and helps teachers to appreciate perspectives which are different from their own. Donna Alverman (1991) remarks upon the power of group discussions to stimulate thinking. She takes a Vygotskian (1962) perspective that thinking needs to occur first on a social plane before it can be constructed as intrapersonal knowledge. In social exchanges, Alverman writes, teachers often discover that what they believe and value may be quite different from what they have assumed or what has been assumed by their colleagues. Such a discovery is initially discomforting, but ultimately it leads teachers to broaden both their individual and their collective visions of teaching (Pinnel, 1994).

Similar to Pinnel (1994), Joyce and Showers (1997) suggest that collaborative research relationships "break down the isolation and increase the collective strength of the community of educators who staff the school" (p. 45). Judith Newman (1991) also emphasises the value of teachers' sharing their inquiries. Newman writes that through collaborative inquiries teachers feel supported in learning to experiment, to make mistakes, and to change what they are doing based on the outcomes of their experiments.

They are encouraged to examine and question their own strategies and assumptions as well as the strategies and assumptions of people around them. By working together they are able to discover the various ways in which things...are done. (p. 20)

In A Paradigm Shift in Staff Development, Spark and Hirsh (1997) suggest that it is very important to bring all members of the learning community together for collective decision-making and action because professional growth is most effectively generated and sustained through collaborative efforts. Research by Kaser, Kahn and Crawford (1996) highlights the importance of a teacher support system; including, study groups, research dialogue groups, and team teaching. Kaser, Kahn and Crawford agree that teacher researchers benefit from groups of colleagues who meet regularly: to share their ideas, to participate in in-depth and long-term discussions, to offer constructive criticism, and to provide analyses and multiple interpretations of findings. By sharing inquiry experiences, teachers deepen their collective conversations. They draw upon one another's perspectives and, in so doing, they position themselves to take a more critical stance with respect to their own assumptions.

Ongoing Reflection

Teachers need time to reflect on their own situations in relation to what has been collaboratively learned in order to decide how such learning will impact their own practices and future learning. Much attention in the research literature has recently been paid to the role of the "reflective practitioner" (Schön, 1982). This concept is not unlike the ideas I have already described in terms of inquiry/teacher research. I have introduced

this new term, however, because I want to highlight the contemplative component of thoughtful, self-critical teaching. My reading has led me to understand that a "reflective practitioner" is someone who not only builds upon his or her tacit knowledge base through active inquiry, but who constantly re-thinks and re-evaluates his or her own values and the impact of his or her practices on others (intentional or otherwise) (see Lieberman, 1994, p. 36). Reflective teachers take time to consider what might work best for them. They personalise what they have learned from their inquiries and integrate this learning into their future teaching decision-making. Reflective practitioners reject the simplistic notion that there are "one-size-fits-all solutions" to educational dilemmas. Self-critical reflection, is of course, difficult and demanding work, but I appreciate that it plays an essential role in preserving the professional autonomy of teachers (Patterson, Snata, Short, and Smith, 1993).

A Democratic Context

A democratic context promotes the truly *professional* development of teachers (Bruce & Showers, 1995). Effective professional development requires an environment in which each voice is heard and valued in decision-making. One loud voice cannot drown out the others. As I mentioned earlier in this chapter, professional development programs have often excluded the voices of the teachers themselves. In a democratic context teachers' voices are heard: a safe, non-judgmental environment which values teachers' knowledge allows them to speak honestly to their experience.

Long ago, writing in *Liberalism and Social Action*, John Dewey (1935) explained that the method of democracy is to bring conflicting ideas into the open where their special claims can be seen and appraised, discussed and judged in the light of more inclusive interest than are represented by either of the ideas separately (p. 79).

Democracy, means valuing others' perspectives—perspectives which may well be at odds with our own. In *The Double Perspective*, David Bleich (1988) argues that each of us holds perspectives that represent to a large extent the "company we have kept".

Depending on this company and our role or particular interest in an issue (for example, whether we are administrators, teachers, parents, students, etc.), contradictory positions may well arise. In a democratic context, however, such differences are valued for their potential to enrich all participants' learning. According to Michael Fullan (1998), we need to value multiple solitudes, multiple points of views, and multiple narratives if we are to genuinely achieve democratic ends.

The function of good democratic inquiry is that it draws new voices into the conversation, and through this process learning communities are established. In "Creative Democracy-The Task Before Us," Fisch (1951) poignantly expresses the idea that the "task of democracy is forever that of the creation of a freer and more humane experience in which all share and which all contribute." For teachers, a democratic context is a place where everyone has an opportunity to freely speak of his or her experience and to hear others who are doing the same. In a living democracy, teachers participate directly in their own and one another's development as professionals.

A Knowledge Base in Reading

"Literacy is," as Braungner and Lewis explain, "key to success in school and beyond, for effective participation in the workforce, the community, and the body politic. This was true in the past and it will be even more true in the future" (p. 1). While teachers cannot anticipate all of the future literacy needs of their students, if they are even to respond in a relevant manner to the literacy needs of their students in today's increasingly pluralistic and rapidly changing society, they must ground their teaching in the most current knowledge base. The National Council of Teachers of English states this position plainly: "readers learn best when their teachers are knowledgeable about the reading process and the conditions that influence its development" (NCTE, p. 3).

According to Braunger and Lewis (1997):

Teachers develop their own knowledge about reading through their own formal education, their reading and reflecting on the work of published researchers, and close observation of and reflecting on children reading in their classrooms, their sharing of classroom based insights with each other, and ongoing study of their classrooms in light of new understandings from teachers' and researchers' work. (p. 10)

Professional development in reading education is a complex process. Linda Crafton (1997) argues that "deep" professional learning occurs only when teachers are able to connect their reading and observations of others' work with what they know through their own firsthand inquiry experiences. Braunger and Lewis (1997) agree that as professionals, reading teachers are responsible "for continuously interrogating and revising their practice based on experience and emerging knowledge" (p. 5).

While typically reading has been seen as a language art, the current view is that reading knowledge is essential for teachers working in all curriculum areas. Reading

researchers P. David Pearson and Diane Stephens (1992) take a transdisciplinary view of reading: they expect all teachers—in every subject area—to consider the specific learning demands and needs of readers in their classrooms. The National Council of Teachers of English has compiled a brief synthesis of core understandings of reading that ought to form the knowledge base of all teachers:

- reading is an act of language; it is always about meaning and communication;
- reading is a construction of meaning from text; it is an active, cognitive,
 social, cultural, and affective process;
- making sense of print involves the use of four language cue systems—graphophonic, syntactic, semantic, and pragmatic;
- while readers vary in their use of reading strategies and cues, the proficient reading process is the same for all readers;
- environments rich in literacy experience, resources, and models facilitate reading development;
- background knowledge and prior experience shape a reader's comprehension (NCTE, p. 4).

Concluding Comments

My review of the professional development literature--specifically as it relates to primary teachers with responsibilities for reading education--suggests that teachers professional development is enhanced when teachers: appreciate the importance of ongoing personal and professional learning; are involved in determining the directions of such professional development; engage in active, critical inquiry; share and learn from

diverse perspectives; reflect deeply on their learning; participate in a democratic context in which everyone's voice is heard and respected; and, have opportunities to develop understandings of the current research base in reading, through vicarious and firsthand experiences.

Chapter Three: Research Methodology

Narrative Inquiry

According to Michael Connelly and Jean Clandinin (1988), narrative inquiry is not only a "phenomenon," it is also a "methodology". As a phenomenon, narrative inquiry is the structured quality of the experience to be studied. The methodology is the storying process engaged in by the narrative researcher. Edward C. Short (1991) writes that "people by nature lead storied lives… while narrative researchers describe such lives, collect stories of them and write narratives of experience" (p. 121). In this study, narrative inquiry, storytelling, is the vehicle I will use to represent my research findings.

Participants

In Chapter One I began with my own teacher story. In this study I share four teachers' stories. I have purposefully selected the four participants according to two criteria. Firstly, each of the participants is or has been a primary teacher, with at least several years teaching experience in their local school systems. Secondly, all four are enrolled in graduate, university studies in literacy education. I chose participants who are graduate students in literacy education because I assumed that their decision to pursue advanced studies demonstrated a deliberate intent to pursue professional development education.

Two of the study participants are international graduate students: one is from Korea, the other is from China. The other two participants are Canadian teachers from Manitoba. I chose the two Canadian, primary teachers because I wished to learn about

the professional development experiences of literacy teachers in a very different educational system from the one I had experienced in my home country of Pakistan. I chose the two Asian, primary teachers because I assumed that there would be similarities between the education systems of these two countries and the education system in my country.

The interviews enabled me to discover if the assumptions I had made about participant selection were correct. Regardless of these assumptions, however, the interviews afforded me the opportunity to learn about the attitudes, beliefs, understandings and professional practices of these four teachers (Creswell, 1994).

The Interviews

I conducted two audiotaped interviews with each of the participants. The interviews were one-on-one sessions. Each of the interviews was approximately one hour in length. All interviews were held in a comfortable location arranged by mutual agreement. In the interviews I drew from the questions I discuss below.

In the first interview, I attempted to create a friendly environment and I encouraged honest communication—because narrative inquiry is a believing game. I began the interview with "grand tour" questions such as: "Tell me about your experiences of teaching and professional development." "Have you had the same kinds of experiences I have had?" "How are your experiences of teaching and professional different from mine?"

The second set of interviews focused specifically on the participants' perceptions of their professional development experiences in reading education. Here, I wanted the participants to draw upon their perceptions of: their students' present and future literacy

needs; current societal demands with respect to literacy; their own learning needs with respect to the knowledge base in reading education; and, the conditions which had enhanced or interfered with collaborative professional inquiries and collegial dialogue. The second interviews also began with an opportunity for participants to reread and respond to the narrative I had created. I also used this second interview to clarify content from the first interview.

During all of the interviews, field notes were taken of body language I had observed, episodes in the interview when questions and requests for clarification arose, etc. Immediately after each interview, I transcribed the audiotapes.

Instruments and Tools

An audiocassette player and field notes were used during the interview process.

The audio cassette player recorded oral communications. Body language, personal notes, clarification issues and any interruptions were recorded in my field notes.

Data Collection and Interpretation

According to Connelly & Clandinin (cited in Short, 1988), "narrative inquiry in the social sciences is a form of empirical narrative in which empirical data is central to the work" (p. 145). The purpose of transforming this data into narrative form is to benefit from the power of fictional writing. Carol Williams (1995) suggests that "fiction helps us make connections between ourselves and others, between reality and possibility. Those of us who love to read do so with a sense of pleasure and power" (p. 2). Fiction helps us to

travel quickly through time, and it makes visible the commonalities among different cultures and systems. This is not to say, however, that my research data was imaginative data-data without an empirical basis. Rather, by creating a narrative—in the multiple voices of the storytellers—I hoped to reveal in more depth what had really happened to them and what they really believe. The point of narrative inquiry is to evoke a fuller, more textured, sense of "truth" than would be possible in a single-voiced, expository text told from my perspective, as researcher.

Interview data was interpreted in a qualitative manner: I probed backgrounds and meanings behind beliefs, attitudes, and practices (Creswell, 1994). This approach is consistent with the research literature on narrative inquiry (Creswell, 1994; Frenkel & Wallen, 1999: Clandinin & Connelly, 1988b). Principally, it involves the collection of data in the forms of words—retelling the story, attempting to understand how participants interpret the meaning of their experiences, and critically analysing the issues that this data raises.

In telling the story itself, Morrow (1997) suggests that a "well-structured story has a setting (a beginning, time, place and introduction), theme (the main character's problems or goal), plot episodes (a series of events in which the main character attempts to solve the problem) and an ending" (p. 135). Narrative inquiry involves not only collecting data, but also representing this data in a way that preserves the integrity of the teller's experience and of his or her storying about this experience.

Role of the Researcher

As a researcher, I was not a distanced observer. Rather, I attempted to position myself as a co-learner, trying to grow and gain insight from my study participants'

experiences of teaching and learning and professional development. Long ago, John Dewey (1938) asserted that "[t]he aim of education is growth" through experience (p. 13).

In Chapter One, I shared my own autobiographical narrative. In this narrative I disclosed my teaching and professional development experiences and the beliefs and values underlying my understanding of my own experience. I did this because during the interview sessions, I had shared my own experiences with my study participants. Dewey (1944) wrote that sharing, in such a manner, is a way for us to get outside of our own life stories and to view them as others might. The four study participants and I were involved in a process of telling and listening, noting similarities and differences, retelling, and further reflecting on our stories. The text I have created is as Barnieh (1989) names it a "plurivocal" story. This text offers a place in which five voices meet in conversation with one another. It is my hope that in reading these stories, as a reader, that you will feel compelled to tell your own story, alongside the ones represented here.

From our story sharing interviews, I learned of similarities and differences in teachers' experiences and when these differences were a consequence of a different educational context.

The stories told are insiders' stories—stories of teaching, ongoing learning and professional development, filtered through teachers' own conceptual lenses. No one speaks for the teachers.

Chapter Four: Insiders' Stories

Meet the Cast of Characters

In Forms of Curriculum Inquiry, Edmund C. Short (1991) wrote that in learning about teachers and teaching "we need an understanding of people with a narrative of life experiences" (p. 124): What do primary teachers from different national backgrounds, have to say, themselves, about their experiences as teachers and what they have experienced by way of professional development in reading education?

I began this study with my own teacher story in Chapter One. In this fourth chapter, I present the perceptions, experiences, and stories of four other primary teachers: Anna and Jay from Canada; Hao-Ying from China; and, Sujung from South Korea.

Canadian Teachers' Perspectives

Anna's Story

Anna has a permanent professional certificate, classification 5 from the

Department of Education and Training in Manitoba, Canada. She has several years of
teaching experience in an elementary school in Winnipeg, Manitoba. She has a Bachelor
of Arts degree and a Bachelor of Education degree from the University of Manitoba.

Anna is also presently enrolled as a part-time graduate student at the University of
Manitoba in the Faculty of Education, specializing in literacy education. She is a
graduate student because she believes that involving herself in formal studies, with other
teachers, will enhance her knowledge of literacy teaching as a professional teacher.

Anna also actively participates in local professional development workshops and in services offered by her school division and local professional organizations. She describes herself as being continually involved in her own personal and professional growth. Here is Anna's story:

A professional teacher is someone who is knowledgeable about the area that she works in. A professional is capable of making her own decisions. Being a professional teacher brings a certain autonomy to the work I do. I recognize that the decisions I make as a teacher affect other people.

I don't think that teachers are allowed as much professional independence as I think they once had in Canada. In Manitoba, with the flurry of new curriculum guides being passed down to us from the Department of Education and Training, there is less and less autonomy. There is certainly less and less decision-making to be done by individual teachers about what they teach the children in their classrooms.

The most significant thing I have done as far as my own professional development has been to return to university to work on my Master's degree in literacy education. I didn't go back to university because I wanted a Master's degree. I am already a class 5 teacher which means I have five years of university education. When I complete my Master's degree, I will be a class 6 teacher, and I will receive a slight increment in my pay. But, if I was doing this for the money, I would be far better off [financially speaking] buying an RRSP. The government isn't terribly supportive of teachers going back to university. In fact, they would like to change how teachers in the province are

paid and how they receive increments. Working toward an advanced educational degree won't necessarily count as much in the future as it does now.

In Manitoba, teachers are given 10 professional development days per year. This means that for 10 school days each year I am not responsible for teaching. For four or five of these 10 days, however, I am required to meet with parents for parent-teacher interviews. Only a few of the 10 days are actually available to me for professional development.

By professional development I mean inviting someone—a guest speaker—to the school who we want to hear as a staff or sitting down with colleagues discussing some aspect of our teaching. I don't consider parent-teacher interviews professional development. Although these are very important days, they are not really a part of my professional development. My school division sometimes plans a program for us for a few days-a-year, but I don't know that I have ever learned much from these sessions.

I think professional development needs to be planned more locally, at the school level. We have a new principal at my school this year. He's set-up some committees within the school to look at the "big picture" of where we're headed as a school, so that we can do some more long-range professional development planning. I think there are teachers in my school who need a lot of support with understanding literacy learning and teaching. Even common place ideas, such as conducting reading and writing workshops (that have been discussed in professional books and articles for a long time now), haven't found their way into many of the classrooms in my school. I think it would be helpful to us as a school if we could plan professional development days for our school, rather than running off in different directions to workshops being put on at other schools.

Earlier I mentioned that I felt a lot of professionalism has been taken away from teachers by new curriculum directives from the government. In Manitoba, we've moved to "results-based, performance outcomes and standards" so as teachers we are being told specifically what to teach and where children are "supposed to be". There are two sides to this issue. Certainly there are teachers who are comforted by being told what they are supposed to do. And, while I appreciate some direction, I think curriculum guides should be exactly that—guides, they shouldn't be the law. What I do as a teacher has to be based on in-depth knowledge of the children I am teaching. The children in the class change every year. I couldn't possibly run the same program year after year. I understand curriculum to be an inquiry process: my job is to help children to appreciate what they already know and help them discover what they want to know next. I need to understand where they are coming from and their questions are important to me.

When curriculum documents are just guides, this gives me the room I need to choose what concepts and processes will build upon where the children are. When curricula are mandated by the government, then I am legally obligated to make sure that every single item identified in print is dealt with in my classroom. This doesn't leave me with much time to deal with children's questions. As far as I'm concerned, children can only construct new understandings from what they already know. I think curriculum documents have to have enough latitude to accommodate the wide range of children's experience and thinking. The new, mandated curriculum documents coming out of the Department of Education and Training are much more specific and much more restrictive than they used to be. I would like to see them far more open-ended about where children might end up.

The brand new English Language Arts curriculum emphasizes targeting specific outcomes and assessing children in terms of external standards. This document puts me at odds with what I know about children's literacy learning and development. I know from my own experience and from my professional reading that children vary in their development as readers, depending to a large extent on the reading experiences they have had at home. It doesn't make sense to me that experts outside of my classroom could set an expectation of where the children *should* be at the end of Grade 1. These outcomes and standards aren't realistic for some students and they would be simple for others.

I am very fortunate. I have had very supportive school administrators who have respected my decision-making as a teacher. I have been in the same school since I began teaching. In the seven years that I've been teaching, I've had four different school administrators. Generally, I think most administrators in my school division would support a teacher's decisions if she could back up why she was doing what she was doing. In my school I feel that I have freedom to make the decisions I think are best for the children in my class. I am sure there are some schools where there is less freedom for teachers to make these decisions. I don't think you can mandate teaching methods. Teachers are individuals. Teachers are interacting with all these different children, how can you say your going to teach exactly the same for every child?

Public understanding of literacy learning doesn't always take this diversity into account. I think most parents expect that in Grade 1 a child will learn to read. They don't have the understanding that children read to learn: in my class the children don't just learn how to read, what we read has to have meaning for them in terms of what we are trying to do and what we are trying to learn about. Reading isn't just a skill. Reading has to be

purposeful for the children. I think parents and even teachers in my school expect that in Grade 1 children will learn to look at the words on the page and decode them. I expect more than this. Children come to school with lots of experience with print. I try to build on this experience.

This can all be so confusing for parents. A lot of the parents of the children I teach, for example, initially don't believe that when a child reads a book from memory that this has to do with real reading. And yet, these familiar books are so important to children's reading development. This is how many of them take that next step into reading independently. The parents of the children coming into my Grade 1 classrooms have mostly thought that a child is reading if you can give that child a book he or she has never seen before and he or she is able to correctly say all of the words written on the page. Seldom would parents' definition of reading include that the child has understood everything he or she has read. Just being able to say the words aloud is usually considered evidence of being able to read. I do a lot throughout the year to change the parents' thinking about what reading is.

What makes this even more difficult for parents is that there are so many mixed messages. Parents are constantly being bombarded with what I think is misinformation from people who are just out to "make a buck". I get upset when I hear an advertisement on the radio or the television for some new phonics game. The latest one I've heard begins with talk about children who are not very good readers and who are not doing well in school. The sales pitch is that if parents would only buy this phonics games, which is such a fun way to learn to read, they are guaranteed to raise their child's reading

performance by at least a grade level in the next term. If this game is so effective, why aren't we using it in schools?

Not too long ago there was a letter in the newspaper, written by somebody who went on about how teachers haven't been teaching children to read anymore because the they have turned away from the idea of phonics (learning the relationships between letters and sounds). Certainly there is a need for children to learn phonics, but it is only one aspect of what children need to know to become readers. Letters like this one make learning to read sound as if it is a simple, step-by-step process. The implication is that as a teacher all you would have to do is follow a guidebook to help you take children through a set of graded phonics readers and that if you did this all of the children would be reading in no time, without any problems. Based on my own experience and what I have learned from reading the research, I know this just isn't reality.

There are no easy solutions to helping parents to deal with these conflicting ideas. Last year I had a parent volunteer regularly in my classroom, we had lots and lots of talks about reading. At the beginning, he was pretty mystified by what I was doing; it was so different from what he had experienced himself in school. But over time he began to understand a lot more because he could see for himself how the children were learning. If he hadn't been in the room I don't think he would have understood nearly as well what I was doing and why.

It is not just the media and the parents' own schooling experiences that make it difficult to understand what is happening by way of reading instruction today. In the profession itself we are headed down paths that seem to going in opposite directions. In education, we seem to jump from one bandwagon to another, without fully exploring the

underlying principles of what is being advocated. Right now what is in vogue is a "balanced approach" to reading instruction. What this means is that teachers are to teach the skills of reading (decoding, recognition of high frequency vocabulary, etc.) on the one hand, while at other times involving the children in authentic reading and writing experiences on the other. I've just read a book called Guided Reading that purports to take a balanced reading stance. While some of the reading instructional strategies seem okay to me, the book also has bibliographical lists of graded--or "levelled"--books for children at a myriad of reading levels. Some of these books are not real stories; instead, they've just been written to teach reading. The language choices in these books are made with a certain level of reader in mind. I don't think either language or reading work in this way. There is no such thing as a list of words that goes from easier to more difficult words. As well, the meaning of a word is determined by more than the word itself: a reader reads language, not just words. Children know words they have met in other life and reading experiences. Children learn what catches their interest. Some of these understandings don't seem to be considerations of a "balanced reading" perspective. Again, my own experience and my reading of the professional literature, make me sceptical about leaping onto new bandwagons.

I have really worked at developing a sound philosophy of what I think happens when children read. I believe that what is most important is that the children see themselves as readers. I think young children need to be immersed in the wholeness of language before we--as parents and teachers--start directing their attention to the abstractness of sentences and words and individual letter sounds. Whole language philosophy says that language learning has to involve the whole of language; if children

are just presented with bits and pieces of language, these bits and pieces may well not make much sense to them. I am also aware of the fact that children are forever making natural connections between oral and written language and drawing. Learning in one of these "languages" informs children's learning in the others. I am interested in learning more about the relationships among these various "languages" in children's literacy development.

I also want to learn a lot more about how to make reading processes more visible to the children. In my classroom right now I talk with the children about the reading strategies the children are using or could be using. As a class, we've brainstormed a list of these strategies and I've posted them on chart paper on one of my classroom walls. We add to this list all of the time, as we notice ourselves using new strategies. If it's a strategy the children say they use, I write it down. Later on I invite the children to reflect on and discuss the effectiveness of some of the strategies we've recorded.

I enjoy being involved in ongoing research in my own classroom. This is one way that I keep learning. I know that I could also be learning more from other teachers who are interested in some of the same questions I have. It would be wonderful if a group of teachers would videotape really good examples of children reading in different situations and we watched them and talked with each other about what was happening.

It's because of the possibilities of these kinds of conversations, that I've been thinking that some day I might like to become a resource teacher. If I ever did this, it would be such fun to be invited into classrooms to help teachers set up writing workshops and reading circles and things like that. I would love to have the resource teacher in my school come into my classroom and support me. Even now we don't work together in the

usual ways. I often have her read with the children who are really doing well in reading, and this gives me a chance to read with some of the others. This only makes sense since I know them the best.

To help us grow professionally as teachers I think we need to see more real examples of how we might work with a child. This could be on videotape or in real life with another teacher or by reflecting on your own reading and writing. It's not all practice though, I think teachers need to ask themselves philosophical questions about what reading is for and why they're doing what they're doing. For me, teaching is about helping children to feel better about who they are, how they relate to others, and what they can do.

Jay's Story

Jay is a Canadian teacher with 7 years experience in a Manitoba elementary school. Jay has a Bachelor of Education degree and a Post Baccalaureate Certificate in Education from the University of Manitoba. He is currently a graduate student in the Faculty of Education at the University of Manitoba, specializing in the role that field experience teachers play in supporting the development of pre-service teachers' understandings of literacy education. Accordingly, Jay is trying to keep up with current research and practice in literacy education. He has done this mostly through taking courses at the local university and by participating in local professional development inservices and workshops. His story follows.

For me, the term "professional" teacher means being a lifelong learner. Once one becomes a teacher, one's learning never stops. I believe that teachers need to be continually questioning what they are doing in the classroom and why they are doing it. They need to constantly be struggling to make their theory congruent with their practice. As I have gained more experience as a teacher, my theories have changed as well.

In terms of professional growth, a teacher has to define what he or she wants to explore. This agenda can't be left up to the school administrator or to the school division to decide. In Manitoba, often professional development workshops are not planned in response to teachers' perceptions of their own professional needs. When it comes to professional development, teachers' voices are often silenced. The workshops that are planned seem to be focused on administration's concerns, rather than teachers' questions.

"Voice" is an issue that is important to me. As a teacher, I don't think my job is to just fit into a fixed system. Not only do individual teachers need to be questioning their own classroom practices, but, collectively, as a school staff, we also need to be thinking about what is going on at the whole school level. The whole school community needs to be talking about what we value. And, I don't just mean that we need to speak up. I also mean that we need to put our beliefs into action.

One of the most important values for me is the establishment of caring relationships. Whether I am working with the children in my classroom, their parents, people in the local community, my colleagues, my administrators, or members of school division committees, I am seeking collaborative relationships. For me, a collaborative relationship begins with mutual respect and a desire for authentic dialogue. Even when there are disagreements there can never be a loss of respect. There are always some

shared values within the differences. As a teacher, I welcome diversity rather than shunning it.

As the government has moved to more standardized curricula, valuing diversity has become more difficult. There is definite pressure from administrators to address the intended curriculum outcomes. Learning which falls outside of these intended outcomes is seen as unimportant. I have problems with this because I think children learn holistically. The life experiences the children bring with them, the children's own interests, the new learning that happens because of the unique collaborative relationships developed in the classroom, I see all of this impacting what is learned. Current curricula seem also to be restricted to intellectual learning; emotional, spiritual, aesthetic, and social learning seem not to be nearly as important.

One of my primary goals as a teacher is to come to know the child as a "whole" person. I see this happening by way of an ongoing dialogue that enables the children to bring their beyond school interests and experiences into the classroom with them. As we come to know one another, we become a community. A strong sense of community in the classroom is very important to me: I try to make sure that nothing happens in the classroom without the consent of the group. I really try to put into practice the ideal that an effective community is dependent on all of its members playing an active role. This sense of community shows itself every Friday in weekly class meetings, and in the ways that the classroom is set up physically to meet the needs and wants of the students. At the beginning of each year, there is nothing in the room except ten to twelve wrapped up boxes at the centre. The students unwrap them and from there they decide how they're going to set up the classroom. All supplies are communal. There are no desks or tables.

Every student has a plant that they bring into the classroom. Every student has their own personal shelf. As the year progresses, I think that the children come to believe that each of us can learn from one another. This blurs my role as teacher/learner.

As I mentioned earlier, I believe that an inclusive vision of learning needs to extend beyond the walls of the classroom. As a classroom community, we are always looking for ways that we can collaborate with other classrooms and with parents. One of the ways we connect with the larger community is by inviting in guest readers: students from other classrooms, moms and dads, grandmas and grandpas, and babysitters. This year as a way of locating ourselves in the community at large, we developed a year-long relationship with a bakery--a neighbourhood family business, across the street from the school.

I would imagine that most people reading what I have just described would say that this kind of curriculum sounds as if it makes good sense. But, in the current educational climate, I am looked upon as a kind of radical. I don't think people outside of the classroom appreciate just how much pressure there is on teachers to conform to the specific outcomes in the curriculum documents. Certainly I can connect what I've described with the curriculum documents, although this requires some creative integration. I'm afraid that even this creative integration would raise a few eyebrows in my school division. I don't think there is an expectation that teachers will be curriculum-makers. I am not sure that my professional voice is welcome in curriculum decision-making.

I want to be sure that my stance is clear. I am not opposed to the province setting out general curriculum expectations. I just don't want these expectations to exclusively drive the educational agenda that I feel I should be creating with the children in our classroom. I see us as a community being involved in uncovering the curriculum together, rather than my just covering the outcomes that have been dictated to me from someone outside of the classroom.

This puts me at some risk in my school division. At the moment, my school division is very much just a mouthpiece for government policies. The leadership in the division doesn't seem to want to take a stand of its own: there's just a knee-jerk reaction. The government dictates something and my division follows, without stopping to reflect on whether this is a direction in which we think we *should* be headed. I don't think my school division has a vision or an overall plan. I keep asking "what is the big picture?"

I think parents are confused too. I really believe that parents want the schools to address all of the child's needs as a human being, but they are told that serving the child's intellectual needs is all that the school is prepared to deal with. I don't think it is clear to parents what role they are supposed to play in their child's schooling. My sense is that parents aren't sure whether or not their voices will be honored and welcomed in their children's school.

It was my own need to develop my voice that prompted me to return to the university for further studies. What the provincial government was telling me and what my school division was echoing seemed to contradict much of what I believe in as a teacher and learner. I was anxious to have some other voices to think with. Reading and talking with others has led to a lot of thinking about my own professional development.

My professional understandings have come from: observing and reflecting on what the children are doing in our classroom; reflecting on how my practices support or interfere with children's learning; the sustained dialogue I have had with colleagues; and, from reading and responding to articles and texts. Whether it was literacy education I was learning more about, or professional development in any other area, I would see it being necessary for me to be directly involved in collecting and interpreting data from my own classroom, talking about this data with colleagues, and using professional readings to think about this data in new ways or with new language. Meaningful practical understandings come about when I take risks, when I try out new strategies, or when I try to put an abstract idea into practice. I know that I need to risk if I am to learn. That's how professional renewal comes about.

Time is perhaps one of the biggest obstacles to professional development. There never seems to be enough time to experiment. I often feel overburdened and overwhelmed. Lately I have felt even more inundated than ever with new curricula, with children's family issues, with record-keeping, and with expectations from my school administrator.

My own professional development has certainly been enhanced when I have not felt as if I was working alone. Whenever I have had opportunities for professional development in partnership with another teacher or as part of a group it has been so much easier to keep going. This solidarity is really important. When I have come up against obstacles, I've felt as if my colleagues were there to help me find my way around them. The camaraderie can be both supportive and energizing. Right now at our school, we meet every Tuesday for an hour and we bring any articles, books, questions or issues that

we want to explore. Our focus at the moment is on student portfolios. This has become a way for us to build a professional inquiry community. Collegiality can support risk-taking.

On the other hand, risk-tasking can be shut down when professional development endeavours are used by administrators to make evaluative decisions about teachers. For example, I might put together a portfolio as a way of tracking my learning in an area that I hoped to strengthen. This would involve exposing and addressing my self-determined weaknesses as a teacher. This would be quite a different portfolio, though, from one I might put together to showcase my strengths. The first kind of portfolio would undoubtedly be a far more valuable tool for supporting my continuing professional growth as a teacher. I certainly wouldn't want my administrator assessing this kind of portfolio, though, as a means of judging my competence as a teacher.

I have a very clear sense that my administrator would view my professional development as a way of assessing my performance as a teacher. I wonder what this would mean if I were to want to pursue some area of professional growth in an area that he didn't deem valuable or that was in conflict with his values as an administrator.

Should my professional learning have to be validated by my administrator? What would this say about what it means to be a professional?

Asian Teachers' Perspectives

Hao-Ying's Story

This is the story of Hao-Ying, an international graduate student from China. Hao-Ying's first degree is from Normal University, China. After receiving his teaching

certificate from Teachers' College, he taught for six years at Yudai Elementary School, in China. Hao-Ying came to the University of Manitoba's Faculty of Education to explore new methods of teaching and learning. His passion for learning and inquiry has taken him half way across the world. Hao-Ying came to Canada with the hope that it would provide him with the opportunity to develop excellence in his use of English in reading, writing, listening, and especially, speaking. Having been hosted by a Canadian family in Manitoba, he has learned about Canadian culture and he has practised his communicative English. This learning adventure has not always been easy. Hao-Ying has faced many cultural and linguistic hardships while studying in Canada. These hardships have been outweighed, however, by his personal and professional growth. Hao-Ying's journey to a foreign country has been part of his inward search for his own professional identity. His story is told below.

Teaching is not easy work. As a teacher, I care about my students' learning and I feel the pressure of wanting to make a difference in their lives. Professionally, it is my responsibility to know the subject matter of what I am teaching as well as the "why" and "how" of my teaching. I think that a professional teacher teaches to learn. As students' needs evolve and change, the teacher needs to respond. This means that there is a need for a teacher to be researching all of the time. Professional learning could go on forever and ever.

As a teacher of language and literacy, I feel that I too need to be involved in regular reading, writing, and researching myself, for my own personal and professional learning. And, while I know that what I believe as a teacher affects my actions in the

classroom, I also recognize that my actions inform what I believe. Theory and practice need to be examined together, throughout a teacher's career.

Unfortunately, what I have just described is not what happens by way of professional development in China. In China, professional development seminars are organized by school authorities. Seldom are teachers' needs assessed. Never are teachers' voices included in these seminars. Instead, authorities lecture teachers. These authorities do not address the teachers' inquiry questions. Nor, is there any attempt made by these authorities to think about a teacher's needs, problems, concerns or frustrations.

Sadly, professional development is a joke. Professional development in-service sessions and workshops are considered by teachers to be quite useless—a waste of time, money and energies. Few sessions and workshops have any affect whatsoever on what teachers do in their classrooms. If a teacher wants to be promoted or to receive a pay raise, though, he or she had better not miss one of these professional seminars. Usually, teachers meet once-a-week to listen to administrators' instructions about policies or regulations on school affairs from the government. The teacher's job is to follow these directives. Reflection on and any democratic discussion of these directives is not encouraged or valued. Teachers do not participate in sharing their ideas during these meetings, nor do they ask questions about how they might inquire into something back in their classrooms. Generally, there is a lack of democracy, trust and openness in Chinese schools. The question that I would ask is: "how can a teacher improve him or herself, without positive reinforcement and encouragement from school authorities?"

In Chinese schools, the principal and other administrators (a large school would have a principal, a couple of vice-principals, a political instructor, a general secretary of the Communist party, and a student advisor) have many rights and much more power than teachers. In fact, a principal can determine a great deal of what a teacher can or cannot do in his or her classroom.

The decision-making of the principal, however, is restricted by a curriculum which has been designed and issued by the central government. Official curricula documents dictate everything that is to be taught. Chinese teachers do not have the right to change any of this content. While teachers do not have the freedom to think about what is worth teaching in their own classrooms, they can decide how they will go about teaching this pre-designed content. After a few years of teaching this same material over and over again, however, no matter how creative the delivery, teaching becomes very mechanical and without much thought. Locally developed curricula would be more relevant and meaningful to students and this would help to make teaching more interesting.

I do not like the top down, transmission system because each individual student has his or her unique character, learning style, diverse learning needs and abilities that need to be addressed. But this is the educational tradition in China.

In addition to tradition, this transmission approach to teaching is also a consequence of large class sizes and pressures teachers feel to cover the curriculum and mark students' assignments. In some densely populated areas, there could be as many as sixty students in one classroom. In these teaching conditions, it is almost impossible to give children any individualized attention. Some students get lost. If their parents are well off they can hire older students as tutors.

As you can tell, I would prefer a learner-centred curriculum for both children and teachers. This does not mean that I would back out and let the students take over. They are limited in their knowledge: they do not always know what they want, where they want to go or how to get there. But, students should have some say in what and how they learn. Teachers need this too in terms of their own personal and professional growth.

Moving toward learner-centred education in China would not be easy. Parents are used to judging good education on the basis of grades on exams. The students are also satisfied with high marks. Passing exams can get you into a higher level of education. There is much competition for higher education.

I believe literacy is more than a score on a test. Literacy is education for life. Reading should fulfill both a student's intellectual and his or her aesthetic needs. Instead, in Chinese schools what children read and write about may be totally removed from their experience. There is also much more emphasis placed on completing written exercises than on reading. If I had any say in what happened in schools, I would love to see young children being encouraged to choose their own story books to read. I would also encourage children to respond to shared reading experiences. Personally, I value children's participation as central to the literacy process. Children understand when they contribute their connections to what they read. Exchanging ideas with others also allows children to grow socially as well as individually. A teacher must be knowledgeable about these ideas if he or she is to make a difference in the child's education.

It is ironic that while the government expects teachers to develop students' reading comprehension abilities so that they can use the knowledge that they have gained, seldom do the exams attempt to measure comprehension or application of ideas. Most

exams are tests of memory. Again, teachers have been left out of this process. Teachers are not happy about this, especially since the parents' evaluation of the teacher is based almost entirely on exam results.

In terms of teacher education, the same kind of exam-driven thinking applies. In universities and teachers' colleges, teachers study student learning and teaching methodologies, but in most cases they take these courses just to get credits and a degree. The most important reason for taking these courses is to pass the test or to get a good mark on a paper, so that you will be qualified to teach.

I don't want to be too bleak about teaching in China. There are several professional development projects in literacy education that I know about. This has involved teachers in visiting other—usually more experienced—teachers' classrooms. Through observation and dialogue these teachers expand their professional skills. I hope there will be more of this kind of professional learning, where teachers learn from one another. It is also becoming possible for teachers to take a leave for a week or two, with pay, to attend classes and to read.

I don't expect that there will be too much change in professional development, however, until teachers are better paid and more highly-respected and valued. Teaching cannot be seen by the society to be just an occupation.

Sujung's Story

Sujung comes from South Korea. She is an international graduate student in the Faculty of Education at the University of Manitoba. Sujung has several years of teaching experience at the Jungang Elementary school in South Korea. She has a degree,

specializing in education from a teacher's college in South Korea.

Sujung came to Canada to learn new philosophies and methods of teaching. Her educational journey is closely related to her own personal and professional development. Initially, when Sujung arrived in Canada she experienced culture shock and confusion because of the differences between the Asian and Western educational systems. It has been a challenge for her to study abroad, in a different culture and system of education. But, she believes that there is no gain without some pain. Here is her story.

For me, being a professional teacher means being a lifelong learner. Teaching is about much more than making a living. I have a passion for teaching and I see myself learning all the time from teaching. In South Korean culture, a professional is a person who is interested in his or her own development and who has a strong commitment to his or her work and community. This is not just an intellectual commitment. It is also a philosophical and ethical commitment. For example, it would please me if teachers all over the world were to collectively reflect on the state of the world's environmental health and on strategies for establishing global, democratic societies.

In South Korea, professional development is largely confined to attending weeklong workshops and meetings twice a year, usually held during teachers' summer and winter vacations. These sessions address new information on teaching methods and current expectations of the Ministry of Education. The South Korean government decides what will be covered. Experts deliver lectures to teachers.

Teachers' voices are not heard or included in the planning or in the operation of the workshops themselves. In these professional development sessions, the teachers are treated like objects: they are passive participants in top-down sessions that have little to do with their individual classroom situations, practical needs or philosophical concerns. Attendance is compulsory and teachers are paid just for coming. If a teacher is interested in securing a promotion in the future, he or she must attend. My own learning needs, questions, and concerns related to my own classroom situation, always go far beyond what is presented in these sessions. I leave these professional development sessions feeling as if I have to resolve all of the real issues of teaching for myself. This is one of the principal reasons for my wanting to study abroad: I have been searching for others who would be interested in some of the same questions I am asking as a teacher. This is important to me. I came to Canada, without financial support, so that I could learn more about what I need to know to become a better teacher.

The biggest barrier to professional education in South Korea is the top-down decision-making of school authorities and their one-way system of communication. In my opinion, greater collaboration in the educational community is necessary. Every participant in the educational community has the right to have his or her voice heard. As a teacher, I may feel as if I have a better way of teaching something, but I am powerless to act on these ideas. For example, I think that my students could become stronger readers and writers by writing and sharing their own stories, but I cannot let them do this because I feel pressured to teach the exact item in the curriculum that is supposed to be taught at that particular point in the year.

This makes the South Korean educational system difficult for me to work in, because it is based on a hierarchy, dependent on power and authority. I feel marginalised in my own country. Teaching methods are totally teacher-directed. And yet, as a teacher,

all that I get to do is unquestioningly follow the official curriculum. I don't have any freedom to teach in a different way.

One of the main reasons for this top-down approach is that it makes it easier to evaluate students on standardized tests. In other words, teachers in South Korea teach to standardized exams, which are offered twice each year. The South Korean government bureaucracy controls the standard exams and teachers spend a lot of time preparing their students for these exams. Every year I was always amazed at how much time was taken up in getting ready for the exams. This also means that a lot of time is spent in memorization, rather than trying to understand the material. Students can feel overwhelmed as the exams get closer. Personally speaking, I don't believe in such standard exams, I remember, myself, that I forgot everything we had studied as soon as the exam was finished. There was no meaningful learning and there was definitely no relationship between what I was learning and how I live my life. A student can do a good job on the exam and not do well in society as a person.

I have trouble reconciling such an agenda with what I know from my studies of learners and learning. For example, in South Korea, we do not expect students to participate in the classroom setting. In Canada it is the opposite. Canadian students have a responsibility to contribute to the classroom by presenting their own thoughts and opinions. Because of my studies, especially my reading, I have developed a student-oriented, constructivist philosophy of education. I always try to think of the relationship between myself as a teacher and my students as one in which we construct knowledge together. I also consider myself a post-modernist and I am interested in current thinking about critical pedagogy.

Freirean pedagogy could move South Korean teachers toward what education might look like in the future. As an analytical tool, it could help us to examine or question our own oppressions. I would prefer a more democratic approach to education, where students and teachers were seen to be co-learners. In such a situation, the participants would not separate their analyses from their actions. Theoreticians and practitioners would think together. In so doing, they would redefine knowledge, removing it from its current self-serving, elitist base, and democratizing the knowledge production process. This would challenge existing power relationships. University researchers and teacher researchers could develop new ways of relating to one another, and they could validate each other's ways of knowing. I believe it is important to put our theories and our practices up for critique and transformation.

If I were to describe the current knowledge base in reading education I would have to say that reading is for constructing meaning and knowledge. Reading puts learners into community with others. Reading and writing are tools for participating in the society and the culture. In South Korea, in the primary grades, the students are taught mainly basic skills for how to read words and sentences. The focus is on relating the sound system and symbols and on the forms of writing, rather than on meaning. This means that grammar and structure are considered to be more important than meaning and the use of reading materials for learning about the world. This focus does not address the question of "why" we would want to read, nor does it lead to critical and conceptual thinking. I would like to help my students to think much more critically and with much greater understanding when they read and write.

I would prefer to see students reading and writing a variety of texts, sharing their work with peers and with parents. I would also like to see a shift away from an exclusive focus on grammar and language forms to a focus as well on meaning and the functional use of language for contextually-based learning and knowledge production. I would also like to de-emphasize the role of memorization for test writing.

Am I optimistic that such changes or reforms will happen in literacy curriculum in South Korea? I can't say so. It seems to me that it would be almost impossible to make such changes because the curriculum is set by authorities who do not listen to teachers. Such changes would also require a great amount of time, effort, and money. In South Korea, the education budget is very much based on the state of the current economy. When the economy goes down, educational conditions also deteriorate. Teachers, who feel they have no control over this financial situation become discouraged and depressed.

In spite of all of this, when I envision my own professional development, I think about the word "good" professional development. The word "good" means the assignment of value and judgement about how I can really change or at least reflect on my ideas as a teacher. I want to become a good teacher instead of an effective teacher. For me, this means focusing on students' needs and the relationship between teachers and students. I need to think critically about what I have done in the classroom and how I can help my students' learning. My studies have helped me with this.

"Good" professional development would also go beyond my personal reading and reflection. I would be interested in using computer technology to communicate with other teachers (e-mail, discussion groups, sharing pedagogy on the Internet . . .). This

would provide a safe place to share ideas and to examine alternative, teaching choices.

Democratic forums could begin with such small steps.

Concluding Remarks

After reading these four international, primary teachers' stories, as a reader you will have learned of their passions, accomplishments, trials, challenges, hopes and dreams for professional development in literacy education. These two Canadian and two Asian (one Chinese and one South Korean) primary teachers have revealed their perceptions of themselves as professionals. They have commented on how much authority and freedom they believe that they have to make teaching decisions. Collectively, they have commented on the tensions and challenges they face in the educational community. All four have shared their hopes and dreams.

In Chapter Two, I highlighted what the research literature had to say about professional development in literacy education. In the next and final chapter, I would like to hold up this literature review to the life stories of these four teachers.

Chapter Five: Bringing the Research Literature and the Teachers' Stories Together

In this final chapter I will review and analyse Anna's (Canada), Jay's (Canada), Hao-Ying's (China) and Sujung's (Korea) stories as portrayed in Chapter Four, in juxtaposition with the research literature on professional development education in early literacy and my own teacher story.

These professional teachers are from different countries and linguistic backgrounds and they have varied teaching experiences, however, each of them is struggling with his or her own professional growth within his or her respective educational system. Beyond the obvious differences in the educational systems of the three countries represented here, all four stories reveal similarities in teacher beliefs, practices, problems, and hopes.

The four participants in this study revealed private thoughts about their places within their educational system, their understandings of teaching and teaching practices, and their professional development experiences. In the course of telling their stories, each of these teachers formed a new vision of himself or herself as a professional teacher and learner.

Like other professionals, these teachers wish to play an active role in their own ongoing learning. Each of them sees himself or herself in transition. They are all looking for inspiration, encouragement, and support or direction from colleagues, professional reading, school authorities, the local and larger societal community. All four struggle with top-down, autocratic and fixed programs of professional development. As well, all four see themselves as involved in a continuing journey of searching for meaningfulness

and insight as teachers. They all wonder how they can be "good" teachers who effectively support and facilitate their students' literacy educations. They also accept that professional development means challenging their assumptions about teaching, learning, and inquiry in order to keep abreast of students' diverse needs in a changing educational system.

In their desire to be active agents in their own professional education, these four teachers agree with the professional development research writings of Basica (1996), Hargreaves (1994), and Little (1993) who argue that educational policies "increasingly require teachers to expand their professional responsibilities beyond the traditional realm of classroom practice – to develop curriculum with colleagues rather than leaving such development to curriculum 'experts', to participate in school programs and policies rather than leaving them up to administrators, and to continue to update their technical skills, their understanding of their students, and their subject expertise" (Little, p. 1). Fullan (1982) also argues that educational change has to be understood and accepted by all those who are involved-teachers, administrators, educators, government, parents, and students. Fullan points out that changing understandings and acceptance of changes in teaching take time and requires considerable encouragement (p. 12). Iano (1986) concurs with Fullan and suggests that effective professional development is a complex business that cannot be addressed in a random, short-term fashion.

With the benefit of the four teachers' "insider" stories, I would like to now return to the seven conditions of effective professional development that guided my synthesis of the research literature in Chapter Two. The conditions I identified were: teachers' appreciation of the importance of professional development; teachers involvement in

determining their own professional development needs and opportunities; active, critical inquiry as a central component of the professional development experience; the sharing of multiple perspectives through professional development experiences; ongoing reflection as a major component of professional development; a democratic context for professional development; and, the requirement that teachers have a solid knowledge base in reading.

<u>Teachers' Appreciation of the Importance of Professional</u> <u>Development</u>

My research has led me to define a professional teacher in literacy education as someone who is involved in and who is always seeking to learn more about the best possible literacy teaching practices, in order to meet the changing needs of his or her students. He or she is engaged in his or her own firsthand literacy learning. He or she also participates in self-directed and self-critical inquiries in an effort to become a more knowledgeable and effective teacher. And, finally, he or she is someone who collaborates with his or her colleagues in producing and sharing literacy teaching knowledge. A final report (1987) to the Manitoba Teachers' Society, "Professional Development: Enhancing the Quality of Teaching and Learning in Manitoba," offers a valuable perspective on the professional growth of teachers. This document describes professional development as:

formal and informal activities intended to foster the growth of educators—persons whose growth enriches their teaching and their relationship with students, as professionals whose increasing competence enables them to carry out their roles more effectively, and as staff members whose collegial relationships have an effect on the motivation and skills of others and who will be able to implement curricular and other changes. (p. 1)

For Anna, a professional teacher is "someone who is knowledgeable about the area that she works in." According to Jay: "the term professional teacher means being a learner. Once one becomes a teacher, one's learning never stops." Hao-Ying explains that a professional teacher is someone who "teaches to learn," and someone who responds to the changing and evolving needs of students. A teacher, in Hao-Ying's mind, is someone who is "researching all of the time" and who is learning "forever and ever." Sujung agrees with her colleagues that the term professional teacher means being "a lifelong learner," but she extends this definition beyond the intellectual commitment to the philosophical and ethical commitments of professional teaching. These ideas are summarized in Barth's (1997) statement: "When teachers stop growing [learning], so do their students" (p. 50).

I note similarities among the four teachers' appreciations of the importance of professional development. All four participants highlighted the value of professional development and claimed that the reason they continue their educational journey is not for personal material gain but to enhance their knowledge for their own sake, for the sake of their students and for the sake of the profession. These four teachers believe that professional education is a lifelong learning process, and that, accordingly, to become the best teacher possible, one must continuously upgrade his or her own knowledge-base in literacy education.

It was a personal and financial hardship for Sujung to come to another country to enhance her professional development, but she did so in an effort to "learn more about what [she] needed to know to become a better teacher" and in altruistic search "for others who would be interested in some of the same questions [she] was asking as a teacher."

Hao-Ying, a Chinese teacher, stressed the value of professional development and he pointed out that like his students, he recognized that he too needed "to be involved in regular reading, writing, and researching [himself], for [his] own personal and professional learning." As a teacher, myself, I agree with Hao-Ying and I believe that teaching and learning are ongoing processes based in part on our own firsthand experiences.

What I have learned from the four teachers' stories is that our teaching must be firmly rooted in our values and beliefs. Because Jay believes teachers are learners, he appreciates that professional development is essential. As a learner, Jay wanted "other voices to think with." He wanted to increase his knowledge through others' perspectives and experiences and this drew him back to the university. Anna, too, acknowledges the importance of serious, sustained professional development: "the most significant thing I have done as far as my own professional development has been to return to university to work on my Master's degree in literacy education."

<u>Teachers' Involvement in Determining Their Own Professional</u> <u>Development Needs and Opportunities</u>

There could be no doubt that the four teachers who participated in this study believe in the need for teachers to determine their own professional development needs and opportunities. Anna was very clear about her feeling that professional development needed "to be planned more locally, at the school level." In her discussion of her new understandings of children's connections between oral and written language and drawing, she identified focussed learning goals that she had set for herself: "I am interested in

learning more about the relationships among these various 'languages' in children's literacy development." Following these comments, she added: "I also want to learn a lot more about how to make reading processes more visible to the children." Not unlike Anna, Jay expressed frustration with professional development that is "left up to the school administration or to the school division to decide." He was deeply concerned that in planning professional development, "teachers' voices are often silenced" and their questions are ignored. And, while Hao-Ying's professional development experiences occurred on the other side of the world, he said much the same as Jay had said: teachers' needs are not assessed, their voices are not included, and inquiry questions are not addressed. He argued that just as his students needed to have some say in what and how they learn, that "teachers need this too in terms of their own personal and professional growth." Sujung echoes these sentiments. She described how "teachers' voices are not heard or included in the planning or in the operation of the [professional development] workshops themselves." This left her with the feeling that her "learning needs, questions, and concerns related to [her] own classroom situation" had not been resolved.

Researchers such as McCormick and James (1998) agree with the teachers in my study. They argue that effective professional development depends upon the involvement of the participants in the process: "commitment can only be achieved if those involved feel they have control of the process . . . whereas, they will resist change that is forced upon them" (p. 11). Similarly, Wideen (1986) argues that the old model of doing professional development to teachers is no longer acceptable: "In the past, teachers were objects to be 'in-serviced'; they were seen as individuals without a context" (p. 124).

The teachers' collective plea to be treated as professionals willingly to take responsibility for their continuing learning cannot go unheaded. These teachers are demanding that they be viewed as "active agents" in their continuing learning. They seek to be respected as learners with varied interests, backgrounds, points of view, goals, concerns, needs and aspirations. They are not satisfied with cookbook recipes from experts who cannot imagine their own and their students' needs, concerns and dilemmas.

Active, Critical Inquiry as a Central Component of the Professional Development Experience

Over the last decade, a number of researchers have stressed the centrality of teachers' own inquiries/"teacher research" to their professional development. This is in contrast to the usual expectation of teachers being primarily passive consumers of university researchers' expertise. I believe that a teacher's own inquiry can provide him or her with insight into the relationship between his or her theoretical and values assumptions and his or her practices. As teachers inquire, in the context of their own classrooms, they have the potential to learn more about their students' needs and how they can modify their teaching to best support the particular learners gathered around them.

Linda Crafton (1997) explains that "teacher inquiry is about teachers generating their own knowledge about teaching" (p. 5). On the basis of their research, Barnet and Young (1998), along with Irvine (1993), claim that inquiry/teacher research and ongoing problem-posing and problem-solving do more to help teachers analyse their current practices and reshape them, than perhaps any other single form of professional

development. Teacher-driven inquiry models—as the National Council of Teachers of English (NCTE) recognizes—honour the complexity of the knowledge base of teaching, invite teachers' authentic questions, and enable teachers to pursue their questions in a systematic and self-critical fashion (1998; p. 6).

Through active inquiry, teachers develop their voices as reflective learners and researchers. Jay tells us that his professional understandings have come from his reading and talking with others, but also from "observing and reflecting on what the children are doing in our classroom" and by "reflecting on how my practices support or interfere with children's learning." Anna agrees: "I enjoy being involved in ongoing research in my own classroom. This is one way that I keep learning." Hao-Ying connects the practice of observation and reflection to his involvement in theory-construction: "while I know that what I believe as a teacher affects my actions in the classroom, I also recognize that my actions inform what I believe." Sujung takes Hao-Ying's statement a step further. She locates the usual separation of teaching theory and practice in the traditional hegemonic relationship of theoreticians to practitioners. Sujung argues that researching one's own practice enables a teacher to participate in the knowledge production process. Doing this, she points out, could potentially challenge "existing power relationships" and situate university researchers and teacher researchers in a new relationship where one another's "ways of knowing" were both validated.

Active, inquiry is about coming to understand the classroom learning environment in more depth and more detail. But it is also more than this. Inquiry/teacher research is as Sujung and Jay suggest, a way of "entering the conversation about education"—a conversation that has often in the past excluded teachers' voices.

The Sharing of Multiple Perspectives Through Professional Development Experience

In his writings on school improvement, Roland Barth (1997) expresses his commitment to sharing perspectives through collaboration in professional development: "I expect all of us to work together, help one another, and make our knowledge available" (p. 33). In his long years of research in professional development, Barth identifies and attributes special significance to the collegial relationships between teachers and administrators:

I think that the problem of how to change things from "I" to "we," of how to bring a good measure of collegiality and relatedness to adults who work in schools, is one that belongs to the national agenda of school improvement—at the top. It belongs to the top because the relationships among adults in a school are the basis, the precondition, the *sine qua non* that allows and energizes and sustains all other attempts. Unless adults [teachers, administrators] talk with one another, and help one another, very little will change. (p. 32)

For Barth (1997), and for other researchers such as Newman (1997) and Stoll (1991), collegiality and congeniality are absolutely key to successful professional renewal. Stoll (1991) writes:

Students benefit academically when their teachers share ideas, cooperate in activities and assist one another's intellectual growth. In the more effective schools, the emphasis is on teachers as learners, as well as students as learners. Staff exhibit cohesiveness, identify problems and take action, and have a shared approach to planning. (p. 77)

Stoll (1991) sums up this position with the comment that "effective schools are characterised by a culture of collaboration in which all of the partners within the school . . . share a commitment to work together to develop the schools' learning environment" (p. 76).

Hao-Ying's hopes for professional development in China are pinned on their being more opportunities in the future for teachers to "learn from one another." Sujung too, is hungry for social learning. She sees technology as perhaps creating a "safe place to share ideas and to examine alternative, teaching choices." Jay describes himself as "seeking collaborative relationships." He is not looking just for someone to confirm his beliefs, but rather, he is interested in "authentic dialogue". He welcomes "diversity rather than shunning it." Jay appreciates that the differences help us to reexamine what we believe in a new light. For Jay, it is the "sustained dialogue" with colleagues over time that will provide him with opportunities for professional renewal. He told me: "Whenever I have had opportunities for professional development in partnership with another teacher or as part of a group it has been so much easier to keep going. This solidarity is really important." Jay saw this sustained collegial relationship as "supporting his risk-taking." Anna was also so attracted to the potential of learning with and from her colleagues that she thought she might pursue a position as a resource teacher some day, so that she could have such conversations.

All of the participants in this study felt isolated. There was little time for these teachers to share their questions, findings, or concerns. All four of the teachers were desperate for a supportive space in which their ideas could be heard, respected and valued. In the increasingly pluralistic, global community in which we live, there was a recognition among the teachers that sharing perspectives would, in turn, enhance their abilities to accommodate the diversity of student needs within their classrooms.

Ongoing Reflection as a Major Component of Professional Development

From the teachers' perspective, I have already addressed the idea of ongoing reflection within my discussion of teacher inquiry. I do not believe that there can be effective "action" research without accompanying critical reflection. After interviewing the four teachers, I now better understand the notion of "praxis"—theoretical practice/practical theorizing. Theory and practice may be different acts, but each reciprocally informs the other. In this section, I will confine my remarks to the research literature.

Schön (1987) contends that "being reflective is a critical feature of being a professional" (p. 161). The research literature is absolutely filled with voices (Newman (1987); Goswami and Stillman (1987); Lester and Miller (1987); Schindele, (1985); Iano (1986); Skrtic, (1986); Schön, (1987); Barton, (1988); Heshusius, (1989); and Ainscow (1991), among many others) advocating that teachers assume the role, and see themselves as, "reflective practitioners". Patterson and Shannon (1993) describe such a role as involving teachers in:

moments of reflection and inquiry in order to take action that will help their students learn better. In a sense, then, all good teachers participate in teacher research because they reflect about students' learning (and their own), inquire through multiple data sources (observations, analysis of artifacts, conferences, and the like), and then act on their new conclusions. (p. 8)

Of course, teachers need time if they are to do this. Darling-Hammond and McLaughlin (1995) support this contention. They write that it is critical that times be specifically set aside for teachers to reflect critically on their practice and to fashion new knowledge and beliefs about content, pedagogy, and learners. And yet, from all that we

heard the teachers say, it seems as if their reflective voices were not welcome at all or were less welcome than they once were (in the case of the two Canadian teachers). The research literature values and advocates what seems to be not valued in practice. This remains an unresolved contradiction.

A Democratic Context for Professional Development

It is important to note that even though the participants in this research study come from two very different regions of the world-Asia and North America-with vastly different political systems and different cultural and academic traditions, all four of the participants raised similar concerns about the need for a democratic context in which to grow professionally. They seemed almost to speak with a single voice: "our voices are often silenced"; "I have a right to have my voice heard"; "I don't think you can mandate teaching methods"; "curriculum documents are more restrictive than they used to be"; "authorities lecture teachers"; "teachers' inquiry questions are not addressed"; "teachers are treated as objects"; "I feel marginalised"....

All of the participants in this study felt as if they were not valued, contributing partners in the education decision-making process. Anna observes: "In Manitoba, we've moved to 'results-based, performance outcomes and standards' so as teachers we are being told specifically what to teach and where children are 'supposed to be'." Anna believes that changes in the current provincial curriculum have seriously eroded her professional decision-making powers: "I am legally obligated to make sure that every single item identified in print is dealt with in my classroom. This doesn't leave me with

much time to deal with children's questions." Anna's comments reflect Mel Ainscow's (1991) concern that "... individual teachers must have sufficient autonomy to make flexible decisions that take account of the individual needs of their pupils and their uniqueness" (p. 10).

Jay, the other Canadian teacher, echoes Anna's sentiments: "As the government has moved to more standardized curricula, valuing diversity has become more difficult." "Learning that falls outside of these intended outcomes is seen as unimportant." Like Anna, Jay feels as if there is much less room than there once was for the contribution of his professional judgements and knowledge. He feels alone: "my school division is very much just a mouth piece for government policies." "The government dictates something and my division follows, without stopping to reflect on whether this is a direction in which we think we should be headed." Jay wants to know where his school division is headed--"what is the 'vision,' 'overall plan' or 'big picture'?" he asks, and where does he fit in? Heron (1981), writing about the importance of a democratic context, lends support to Jay's worries: "persons, as autonomous beings, have a moral right to participate in decisions that claim to generate knowledge about them." "Such a right . . . protects them . . . from being managed and manipulated" (p. 13).

Sujung, coming from quite a different political and educational context has the same worry as Jay and Anna about the lack of democracy in decision-making within her educational community. She describes herself as "powerless" to act on her own professional judgements, because of the specific dictates of curricula: "all that I get to do is unquestioningly follow the official curriculum. I don't have any freedom to teach in a different way."

Hao-Ying, told me again and again how his job was to follow directives, not to question them: "Reflection on and any democratic discussion of these directives is not encouraged or valued " "Generally, there is a lack of democracy, trust and openness in Chinese schools."

Several of the four participants in this study also referred to the imbalance of power between themselves and their school principals. With the exception of Anna, whose principals seemed benignly supportive of whatever she did, the participants in this study did not see their principals as facilitating their growth. Barth's (1997) research speaks to the frequency of this situation. He writes that the reason for "rising numbers of teacher dropout and burnout is that the school principals, sometimes unwittingly, find themselves to be inhibitors, not facilitators, of the teachers growth" (p. 51). Not unlike Sujung, Barth believes that small steps can be taken to create a more democratic culture in schooling. He suggests that professional growth begins with a democratic relationship between teacher and principal and between teacher and teacher. If 'mutual respect', 'authentic dialogue', and 'collaborative relationships' were to be supported among professional colleagues, as Jay suggests, this might invite greater democratic discussion among all the participants in the larger educational community.

A Solid Knowledge Base in Reading

In conversation with the four teachers, I repeatedly heard each of them express his or her desires to become more knowledgeable about what and how he or she was teaching. Jay explained how he would draw upon current professional literature in

literacy learning to think about his own classroom research data in "new ways" or with "new language". Anna views the professional literature as a tool for helping her to resist the pressure to "leap onto the newest literacy bandwagon." Hao-Ying would like to implement some of the literacy practices in other educational systems that he has been reading about in the professional literature. He is also hopeful about the literacy education projects in his own country that pair teachers together so that they can learn from one another. While Sujung did not expect that literacy curriculum reforms would be taking place soon in her country of South Korea, she, like Hao-Ying, had definite ideas about the kinds of changes she would like to see in literacy teaching. Also, like Hao-Ying, these changes were based on her study of literacy teaching and learning practices in other education systems. These four teachers already recognize what Linda Crafton (1997) points out in the research literature: "[t]he increased complexity of our knowledge base is a strong argument for a professional development model that results in continuous, 'deep' learning guided by the learner's (teacher's) need and outside support" (p. 6).

In both my conversations with the teachers and my reading of the professional literature regarding the current knowledge base in reading, there was unanimity that reading meant making sense of text. In "Learning to Read: The Never Ending Debate," Frank Smith (1995), returns to the same argument he has been making for over 20 years, that teachers must be sure that the text is meaningful to children and that it relates in some way to their life experiences. According to Smith (1995); Wells (1986); and Peterson & Eeds (1990), children are "born makers of meaning" (Peterson & Eeds, 1990; p. 6).

I also believe that like knowledge construction, reading is a social process, wherein, readers freely contribute their ideas to create mutual understandings. If we talk with others about what we have read, we can revisit the text with perspectives we would not have had on our own. Sometimes, in discussion about a reading, we make connections we had not previously put together. Or, at other times, others confirm what we thought or felt about a reading. In this way, teacher and students become co-learners in the reading process. As readers, we can think together as collaborators (Woodward & Serebrin, 1989; p. 394). All of the participants in this study, saw a role for teachers and children to read texts together as co-learners.

Often researchers address theoretical issues and assume that it is an easy step to apply theory in practice. Schwab (1969) writes: "Curricularists in particular and educationists in general have become so infatuated with theory and with intellectual respectability that they fail to recognize that the practice of education was not a theoretical undertaking but a practical one" (p. 52). The participants supported this contention. All four teachers mentioned that throughout their careers they would be engaged in an ongoing professional struggle to fit theory to practice. And, as I have already pointed out, several of the participants described how theory too was informed by practice.

The lack of fit between what the teachers understood about the reading process and what curriculum documents or standards and standardized tests required them to do, created enormous professional tensions. Teachers, as literate persons, ought to be involved in discussion and debate of curriculum texts, as the same way that they would respond to any other text. Curriculum documents ought to reflect the best of what we

know in both theory and practice. They ought to support teachers in their work, rather than restricting their professional roles.

Through their conversations with me, the four teachers in this study heard and read their own "whole" stories for the first time. Each of them told me that this in itself was an empowering experience. Through this process they came to better appreciate their knowledge, their struggles, their plans, and their hopes. In reading each other's stories, we each heard similarities to our own story. We recognized that geography, traditions, and politics alter the context of a teacher's story, but much of this story is universal. Teaching is about establishing and nurturing learning relationships. When teachers are learners, their learning needs to be supported and nurtured too.

Further Study

This study was not conducted with the intent of presenting final answers, solutions or recipes for change. Rather, as a teacher and researcher, it has led me to new questions, which I offer to other professional teachers/researchers. At the end of this study, I am left with the following lingering questions: why it is that we know so much about what constitutes worthwhile professional development and yet we do not use this knowledge in practice?; how do we reconcile teachers' experiential and theoretical knowledge with highly specific, lock-step, state mandated curricula?; what happens to teachers (like the ones in this study), whose consciousness has been raised and whose knowledge base has been strengthened through self-directed professional development,

when the contexts in which they teach are neither supportive of their professional efforts nor encouraging of change?; as resources are reduced in public education, what new and creative ways can school divisions and responsible levels of government find to support sustained teacher reflection and inquiry—both for individual teachers and for collegial teacher communities?; how can educators more effectively participate in conversations about literacy learning and teaching with the larger educational community?

Bibliography

- Abbot A. (1988). <u>The Systems of Professions</u>. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Ainscow, M. (1991). Effective Schools For All. David Fluton Publishers Ltd. London.
- Ainscow, M., Hopkins, D., Southworth, G., & West, M. (1994). Creating The Conditions For School Improvement: A Handbook For Staff Development Activities. David Fluton Publishers Ltd. London.
- Arizona English Bulletin. (Winter 1995). "Editorial" by Carol Williams Volume 37 Number 2.
- Arizona English Bulletin. (Winter 1996, Fall 1995). Fredman, L. & Fox, L. D. "Promoting Democratic Classroom Communities" Volume 37 Number 2.
- Barth, R. S. (1990). Improving Schools From Within. California: Jossy-Bass.
- Barnieh, Z. (1989). <u>Understanding Play Writing For Children</u>. University of Calgary.
- Barrow, R. (1984). Giving Teaching Back To Teachers. The Althouse Press. The Faculty of Education, The University of Western Ontario, London, Ontario, Canada.
- Biklen and Bogdon (1992). <u>Qualitative Research For Education</u>. Allyn & Bacon, Toronto, Canada.
- Bruner, J. (1986). <u>Actual Minds Possible Worlds</u>. MA: Harvard University Press.
- Bruner, J. (1990). "Knowing, Doing and Talking" <u>Human Development</u>. Vol. 36. (pp. 327-342).
- Bruner, J. (1997). <u>The Culture of Education</u>. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Braunger, J. Lewis, J. P. (1997). <u>Building A Knowledge Base in Reading</u>.

 Portland, OR: Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory. Curriculum and Instruction Series.
- Bode, B. H. (1937). Democracy as a way of life. N. Y: Macmillan.

- Bower, C. A. (1974). <u>Cultural Literacy for Freedom</u>. Eugene, OR: Ellan Publishers, Inc.
- Calkins, Lucy McCormic. (1986). "The Writing Reading Workshop." In: <u>The Art of Teaching Writing</u>. Portsmouth, NH: Heinmann Educational Books. (pp. 243-257).
- Caroll, J. H., Bruke, K.M., Pai, S. M., & Chance, K.S. (1995). "Reviews and Reflections: Teachers as Learners." Language Arts (72) (pp. 301-307).
- Church, S. (1996). <u>The Future of Whole Language: Reconstruction of Self-</u> Destruction. Concord, ON: Irwin.
- Clandinin, D. J. (1986). Classroom Practices: Teachers Images in Action. London: The Falmer Press.
- Clandinin, D. J. (1989). "Developing Rhythm in Teaching: The Narrative Study of a Beginning Teacher's Personal Practical Knowledge of Classrooms." Curriculum Inquiry, (19)2, (pp. 121-141).
- Clandinin, D. J. and Connelly, F. M. (1988). "Narrative Experience and the Study of the Curriculum." (Working Paper).
- Clandinin, D. J. and Connelly, F. M.. (1988). "Narrative and Story in Practice and Research." In D. Schon (Ed.), <u>Case Studies in Reflective Practice</u>. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Clay, M. M. (1996). Accommodating diversity in early literacy learning. In D. R. Olson & N. Torrance (Eds.), <u>The Handbook of Education and Human Development</u>. New York. Macmillan.
- Creswell, J. W. (1994). Research Design: Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1993). "Reframing the School Agenda," Phi Delta Kappan. (pp. 753-761).
- Darling-Hammond, L. (1993). The Right to Learn. San Francisco: Jossey-Brass.
- Dewey, J. (1916). Democracy and Education. New York: Macmillan.
- Dewey, J. (1934). Art as Experience. New York: Capricon Books.
- Dewey, J. (1938). Experience and Education. New York: Collier Books.

- Dewey, J. (1965). "The relation of theory to practice in education." In M. L Borrowman (Eds.), The Teacher Education in America: A Documentary <u>History</u>. New York, NY: Teacher College Press.
- Fisch, Max. (1951). "Creative Democracy—The Task Before Us." Classic Philosophers. Appleton Century Crofts.
- Fleischer, C. (1995). Composing Teacher Research: A Prosaic History. Albany, NY: Suny Press.
- Freire, P. (1970). Pedagogy of the Oppressed. New York, N.Y: Seabury.
- Fosnot, C. (1989). <u>Enquiring Teacher. Enquiring Learners: A Constructivist Approach to Teaching</u>. New York: Teachers College Press.
- Frobel, C. (1974). The Education of Man. Clifton. NJ: Augustus M. Kelley.
- Goodman, K. (1996). "How Developing Reading Works." In: On Reading. Toronto: Scholastic Canada, Ltd. (pp. 53-61)
- Goodman, K. (1996). "How Proficient Reading Works." In: On Reading. Toronto: Scholastic Canada, Ltd. (pp. 37-52).
- Goodman, K. Yetta, & Burke, C. (1996). "Reading and Reading Strategies."
 In: Reading Strategies: Focus on Comprehension. (2nd Ed.). New York: Holt. (pp.3-14).
- Giligan, C. (1982). <u>In a Different Voice</u>. Cambridge: Harvard UP.
- Hargreaves, A. & Fullan, M. (eds.) (1992). <u>Understanding Teacher Development</u>. Cassell and Teachers College Press: London and New York.
- Harste, J.C. (1994). "Literacy and curricular conversations about knowledge, inquiry, and morality." In R.B. Ruddell & H. Singer (Eds.), <u>Theoretical models and processes of reading</u>. (pp.1220-1242). Newark, DE: International Reading Association.
- Hubbard, R. S. (1950). <u>The Art of Curriculum Inquiry: A handbook for teacher Researcher</u>. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Irvine, J. L. (1993). "What do we understand professional development to mean?" Faculty of Education, University of Manitoba. (Unpublished paper).
- Joyce, B. & Showers, B. (1995). <u>Student Achievement Through Staff</u>
 <u>Development: Fundamentals of School Renewal</u>. White Plains, NY:
 Longman.Faculty of Education, White Plains, NY: Longman.

- Kaser, Kahn, and Crawford. (1996). "Becoming a teacher researcher." <u>Arizona English Bulletin</u>. Fall, (p. 21-29).
- Knowles, M. S. (1980). The Modern Practice of Adult Education: From Pedagogy to Andragogy. New York: Cambridge.
- Labaree, D. (1992, Summer). "Power, knowledge, and the rationalization of teaching: A genealogy of the movement to professionalize teaching." <u>Harvard Educational Review</u>. Summer, 1992, (p.123-152).
- Lieberman, A. and Miller, L. (1992) Professional development of teachers in <u>The Encyclopedia of Educational Research</u>: V. 3, 6th Ed. (1045-1051).
- Lorri. (1991). "Of parachutes, mockingbirds, and bat-poets: A new paradigm for Professional growth," Part 1-11, <u>The Reading Teacher</u>. Vol. 45, Number 3 (240-241).
- Little, J. (1992). Teachers Development and Educational Policy. In Fullan, M. and Hargreaves, (Eds.). <u>Teacher Development and Educational Change</u>. Falmer Press.
- Little, J. (1993). Teachers Professional Development in a Climate of Educational Reform. Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis. 15.2, (p.129-151).
- Meek, M. (1991). On Being Literate. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Meek, M. (1982). Learning to Read. London: The Bodley Head.
- Merton, R. K. (1982). <u>Social research and the Practicing Profession</u>. Cambridge, M.A: Abt: Books.
- Morrow, L. M. (1997). <u>Literacy Development in the Early Years: Helping</u> Children Read and Write. Allyn & Bacon, Toronto.
- Newman, J. M. (1991). Interwoven Conversations. Toronto, ON: OISE Press.
- Patterson, L. Snata, C. M., Short, K. (1993). <u>Teachers are Researchers:</u>
 Reflection And Action. Newark, DE: International Reading Association, Inc.
- Page, T & Thomas, J. with A. R. Marshal. (1980). <u>International Dictionary of Education</u>. Cambridge Mass: The MIT Press.
- Pearson & Stephens. (1994). "Learning about literacy: A 30-year journey."
 In: R. Ruddell, M. Ruddell, H. Singer. (Eds.), Theoretical models and processes of reading. Newark, DE: International Reading Association.

- Peshkin, A. (1985). "Virtuous Subjectivity: In the participant-observers eyes." In D.Berg, and K, Smith (Eds.), Exploring Clinical Methods for Social Research. Beverly Hills: Sage Publication.
- Rogoff, B. (1990). <u>Apprenticeship in thinking: Cognitive development in social context</u>. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- Schon, D. (1983). The Reflective Practitioner. New York: Basic Book.
- Shannon, P. (1998). Reading Poverty. Portsmarth, NH: Heinemann.
- Short E. C. (1991). Forms Of Curriculum Inquiry. Albany, NY: State University of New York.
- Short, K. and Burke, C. (1991. <u>Creating Curriculum: Teachers and Students as Communities of Learners</u>. Portmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Short, K. Harste, J., & Burke, C. (1996). <u>Creating Classrooms for Authors and Inquirers</u>. (2nded). Portsmouth, NH: Heineman.
- Smith, F. (1995). <u>Between Hope and Havoc: Essays into Human Learning and Education</u>. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.
- Smith, F. (1983). "Learning to read by Reading." In: <u>Essays into Literacy</u>. Portsmouth, N. H.: Heinemann Educational Books. (33-39).
- Smith, F. (1992). "Learning to Read: The Never Ending Debate." Phi Delta Kappan. February: (pp. 432-441).
- Sparks, D. and Hirsh, S. (1997). A New Vision for Staff Development.

 Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development
 (Alexandria, Virginia) and (National Staff Development Council (Oxford, Ohio).
- Thiessen, D. Basica, N., and Goodson Ivor (1996). <u>Making a Difference</u> <u>About Difference</u>. Toronto, ON: Garamond Press.
- Vigotsky, L., S. (1978). Mind in Society: The Development of Psychological Processes. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Vigotsky, L. S. (1981). "The Genesis of Higher Mental Functions." In J. J Wretch (Ed.), The Concept of Activity. White Plains. NY: ME. Sharp.

- Weaver, C. (1998). <u>Practicing What We Know: Informed Reading Instruction</u>. Urbana, IL: National Council of Teaching of English,.
- Webster's Third New International Dictionary of the English Language. (1986). Springfield: Mass., Merriam Webster Inc.
- Wertsch, S. A., (1991). <u>Voices of the Mind: A Sociocultural Approach to Mediated Action</u>. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Wideen, M. & Andrews, I (1987). <u>Staff Development for School</u>
 <u>Improvement: A Focus on the Teacher</u>. New York: Falmer Press.
- Woodward, V. A. & Serebrin, W. G. (1989). "Reading between the signs: the social semiotics of collaborative storyreading." <u>Linguistics and Education</u>, 1, (pp. 393-414).
- Young, J., & Barnet, T. (1998). "Professional Development in Manitoba: A Discussion Paper for the Manitoba Council for Leadership in Education," Department of Educational Administration & Psychology, Faculty of Education, University of Manitoba & Seven Oaks School Division # 10.
- Zakaluk, B. L., & Samuels, S. J. (1988). "Readablity: Its past, present and future." Newark, DE: International Reading Association

Appendices

Appendix A Letter of Invitation and Consent

Khalida Tanvir Syed 114-99 Dalhousie Dr. Winnipeg, MB R3T 3M2 (204) 275-3429 March 5, 1999

Dear Fellow Graduate Student/Teacher;

I am a graduate student at the University of Manitoba. Presently I am conducting research for my thesis, as part of the requirements for the M.Ed. degree. The title of my research study is *Teachers' Stories: Insiders' Perspectives on Their Own Professional Development in Literacy Education*.

Through this research, I wish to learn more about the problems and promise of professional development in Reading education, as you have experienced and thought about professional development in this area of study as an elementary teacher yourself. Because I am interested in thinking openly, critically, and deeply about professional development potentials in my home country of Pakistan, I am interested in how your experiences and understandings of professional development in Reading education in your country can enrich my learning. I am also curious about the relationship between your experiences and the ideas discussed in the professional development literature in Reading education.

I plan to interview you for no more than 5 hours in total. This five hours will be divided into two, 2-hour interviews and a final 1-hour interview. In the first interview, I will ask questions similar to the sample question provided in Appendix B. I will audio tape this interview and make field notes of my observations during the interview. The purpose of the questions that I ask will be to elicit your experiential stories and thinking about professional development in Reading education as a professional, elementary teacher. In the second, follow-up, audio-taped interview, we will 'go over' the transcript of the first interview and I will share my field note interpretations with you. At this time, I will invite you to clarify and elaborate upon this first interview. In the third interview, I will once more share my interpretations of the first two interviews with you, in an effort to 'verify' my interpretations.

Please be assured that all information provided to me will be kept strictly confidential. Your name will not be recorded. Once my research study is over I will erase the audio tapes of our interview.

Your participation in this study is entirely voluntary. If, during the interview, or at any other time over the course of the study, you wish to withdraw from the study, you are free to do so without penalty. Should this become the case, all interview information which you have provided will be deleted from the study.

The research findings of this study should be completed in the month of June, 1999. Upon completion, I will arrange to share a summary of the findings with you. If you are unable to meet with me in person I will mail this summary to you.

Additional information about my study can be obtained from me at the address listed above, or from my thesis advisor at the University of Manitoba, Dr. Wayne Serebrin, 474-9024.

If you are willing to participate in my research study, please sign the accompanying consent form and return it to me in the enclosed stamped, self-addressed envelop. If you agree to participate, I will arrange a first interview at a time and location convenient for you.

Sincerely,

Khalida Tanvir Syed

Consent to Participate

I,, am willing to participate in the research studdescribed in the accompanying consent letter. I understand that I can withdraw at a time with no penalty. The information I provide in the interviews may be reported anonymously in the thesis identified by Khalida Tanvir Syed as "Teachers' Stories: Insiders' Perspectives on Professional Development in Literacy Education.		
misiacis i dispectives on i tor	Solona Development in Energy Education.	
Name		
Signature of Consent		Date
Signature of Researcher	Date	

Appendix B Sample Interview Questions

What does the term "professional" teacher mean to you?

As an elementary teacher, what are (or were) your perceptions of your society's literacy expectations of the children you teach (or taught)? [further prompts would include: the children's expectations; the parents' expectations; your expectations; the expectations of your school and school division; government expectations, as expressed through curriculum and other documents and policies; and, expectations of other stakeholders, expressed through media and through other sources].

How would you describe the current knowledge base in Reading education? What are some of the most significant understandings educators have of Reading today?

What are (were) your perceptions of your own learning needs with respect to society's expectations of the children you teach (taught) (including your perceptions of the children's present and future needs as readers)? What are (were) your perceptions of your own learning needs with respect to the current knowledge base in Reading?

In your own local context, as a teacher, in what different ways have you participated in "continued learning/inquiry" about Reading as a professional educator?

What or who was supportive of such professional development endeavors? What interfered with your professional learning about Reading education?

How would you envision effective professional development in Reading education?

Appendix C Letter to accompany Transcript and Data Analysis

Khalida Tanvir Syed 114-99 Dalhousie Dr Winnipeg, MB R3T 3M2 (204) 275-3429 April 10, 1999

Dear Teachers:

I am writing to thank you for your recent participation in the research study related to my thesis entitled: Teachers' Stories: Insiders' Perspectives on Their Own Professional Development in Literacy Education. Your participation will not only help in the successful completion of my Master's Degree in Education at the University of Manitoba, but it will also contribute to the body of professional literature related to teacher training and professional development.

I have now completed all interviews and have transcribed the data from each. Enclosed is the transcript and narrative report or data analysis from your interview.

Please review this data and contact me at (204) 275-3429 to arrange a time for a follow-up interview to gain further insight into your perspective on staff development: edit or revise as you feel is necessary. This follow-up interview session will be arranged at your convenience.

I really appreciate your most valuable contribution of sharing your educational beliefs, time, and experiences. Upon completion of my study, I shall be happy to share the findings of my research with you.

Thank you for your involvement in this study.

Yours truly,

Khalida Tanvir Syed